

## Aalborg Universitet

## Activating the Sting Pathway

a potential strategy for anti-cancer immunotherapy? Laursen, Marlene Fyrstenberg

Publication date: 2020

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication from Aalborg University

Citation for published version (APA):

Laursen, M. F. (2020). Activating the Sting Pathway: a potential strategy for anti-cancer immunotherapy? Aalborg Universitetsforlag. Aalborg Universitet. Det Sundhedsvidenskabelige Fakultet. Ph.D.-Serien

#### General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- ? Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
   ? You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
   ? You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us at vbn@aub.aau.dk providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

### A POTENTIAL STRATEGY FOR ANTI-CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY?

BY MARLENE FYRSTENBERG LAURSEN

**DISSERTATION SUBMITTED 2020** 



## A POTENTIAL STRATEGY FOR ANTI-CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY?

by

Marlene Fyrstenberg Laursen



Dissertation submitted April 29th, 2020

Dissertation submitted:	April 29 <sup>th</sup> , 2020
PhD supervisor:	Associate Prof. Ralf Agger, Aalborg University
Assistant PhD supervisor:	Associate Prof. Emil Kofod-Olsen, Aalborg University
PhD committee:	Associate Professor John Dirk Nieland (chairman) Aalborg University
	Senior Scientist, Group Leader Gunnveig Grødeland University of Oslo
	Professor, Dr. med. Thomas Vorup-Andersen Aarhus University
PhD Series:	Faculty of Medicine, Aalborg University
Department:	Department of Health Science and Technology
ISSN (online): 2246-1302 ISBN (online): 978-87-721	0-635-9

Published by: Aalborg University Press Langagervej 2 DK – 9220 Aalborg Ø Phone: +45 99407140 aauf@forlag.aau.dk forlag.aau.dk

© Copyright: Marlene Fyrstenberg Laursen

Printed in Denmark by Rosendahls, 2020



### MARLENE FYRSTENBERG LAURSEN

POSITIONS		
2017-2020	<ul> <li>PhD Student, Laboratory of Immunology, Department of Health Science and Technology, The Faculty of Medicine, Aalborg University</li> <li>Research Stay at University of Oslo and Oslo University Hospital</li> </ul>	
2016-2017	Research Assistant, Laboratory of Immunology, Department of Health Science and Technology, The Faculty of Medicine, Aalborg University	
EDUCATION		
2014-2016	Master of Science in Biomedicine, The Faculty of Medicine, Aalborg University	
2011-2014	Bachelor of Medicine, Faculty of Health, Aarhus University	
DUDI ICATION		

### PUBLICATIONS

<u>M. F. Laursen</u>, E. Christensen, L. L. T. Degn, K. Jønsson, M. R. Jakobsen, R. Agger and E. Kofod-Olsen. CD11c-targeted Delivery of DNA to Dendritic Cells Leads to cGAS- and STING-dependent Maturation. Journal of Immunotherapy, vol. 41, (1), pp. 9-18, 2018

**M. Fyrstenberg Laursen**, E. Kofod-Olsen and R. Agger. Activation of dendritic cells by targeted DNA: a potential addition to the armamentarium for anti-cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy, vol. 68 (11), pp. 1875-1880, 2019

### **CONFERENCE ABSTRACTS**

Laursen, Marlene Fyrstenberg; Agger, Ralf; Kofod-Olsen, Emil. Investigations on a Novel Dendritic Cell-Targeted Adjuvant for Anti-Cancer Therapy. Conference 18<sup>th</sup> Progress in Vaccination Against Cancer (PIVAC-2018), October 2018, Oslo, Norge **Laursen, Marlene Fyrstenberg**; Agger, Ralf; Kofod-Olsen, Emil. Targeting cGAS and STING in human dendritic cells. I: European Journal of Immunology, Bind 48, Nr. Suppl. 1, P–249, 2018, s. 162-163

<u>Marlene Fyrstenberg Laursen</u>, Emil Kofod-Olsen, and Ralf Agger. Generation of a novel dendritic cell targeting vaccine against cancer. Danish Society of Immunology, Annual Meeting, May 2018, Aarhus, Denmark

Laursen, M. F., Kofod-Olsen, E. & Agger, R. The delivery of double-stranded DNA to dendritic cells and its effect on dendritic cell maturation. Danish Society of Immunology, Annual Meeting, April 2016, Copenhagen, Denmark. Danish Society of Immunology, s. 21 No. 18

Fredriksen, L., <u>Laursen, M. F.</u>, Birkelund, S., Agger, R. & Kofod-Olsen, E. CD11ctargeted dendritic cell vaccine. Danish Society of Immunology, Annual Meeting, May 2019, Copenhagen, Denmark.

Zeiler, C., Banasik, A., <u>Laursen, M. F.</u>, Agger, R. & Kofod-Olsen, E. Analysis of Type 1 IFN Production by DCs after Stimulation with Supernatant of Necroptotic Cells. Danish Society of Immunology, Annual Meeting, May 2019, Copenhagen, Denmark.

Nielsen, L., <u>Laursen, M. F.</u>, Agger, R. & Kofod-Olsen, E. Generation of a recombinant CD11c-targeted vaccine containing SIINFEKL antigen. Danish Society of Immunology, Annual Meeting, May 2019, Copenhagen, Denmark.

3010	2rd DL D D 10th D L V 1 C
AWARDS	
	Norway, Poster and Oral Presentation
2018	18th Progress In Vaccination Against Cancer (PIVAC-18), Oslo,
	Poster Presentation
2018	15 <sup>th</sup> International Symposium on Dendritic Cells, Aachen, Germany,
2018	The Danish Society of Immunology, Annual Meeting, Aarhus,
	Greece
2017	17th Progress In Vaccination Against Cancer (PIVAC-17), Loutraki,
	Denmark
2017	The Danish Society of Immunology, Annual Meeting, Odense,
2010	Denmark. Poster Presentation
2016	The Denich Society of Immunology Annual Masting Cononhagon

### **CONFERENCE ACTIVITY**

### **PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIPS**

2016-: Member, Scandinavian Society of Immunology 2016-: Member, Danish Society of Immunology

### **TEACHING EXPERIENCE**

Teaching Assistant, Immunology Course, 2<sup>nd</sup> semester, Bachelor (MedIS/Medicine) Project Supervisor, 4<sup>th</sup> Semester Projects, Bachelor (MedIS/Medicine) Project Co-Supervisor, 6<sup>th</sup> semester Bachelor Projects, Bachelor (MedIS/Medicine) Project Co-Supervisor, 7<sup>th</sup> to 10<sup>th</sup> semester Master Projects, Master (MedIS/Medicine)

## **ENGLISH SUMMARY**

Immunity and cancer are known to be linked together in a close relationship. The knowledge of how the immune system interacts in tumor development and elimination has led to a revolution in cancer treatment with development of anti-cancer immunotherapy. The potential of immunotherapy against cancer has been confirmed by checkpoint blockade therapy, which can increase survival of cancer patients, by lifting the suppression of T cell responses that is generated by the cancer cells. However, some patients still fall short in responding to the treatment, and development of new approaches to supplement the function of checkpoint blockade is of high interest. Dendritic cells (DCs) are highly involved in immune regulation of cancer, specifically since they are professional antigen-presenting cells and T cell activators and able to shape the character of the immune response. During anti-cancer immune responses, type I interferons (IFN-I) have been shown to be important in the activation of DCs and to increase their ability to mediate T cell dependent tumor rejection. The molecule Stimulator of Interferon Genes (STING) is a major facilitator of IFN-I production in many different cell types, including DCs. Targeting DCs and STING to increase IFN-I production and immune activation could therefore potentially be a way to enhance anti-cancer immune reactions.

The possibility of utilizing DCs and STING in immunotherapeutic cancer treatment was investigated through two studies. In the first study, an adjuvant construct targeted to DCs was generated. The construct consisted of an antibody specific for DC surface molecule CD11c which was conjugated with dsDNA, a known activator of STING, and the maturation status of the cells was determined. Here it was seen that targeting STING with dsDNA in DCs led to a STING-dependent increase in maturation and enhanced their ability to stimulate T cells. In the second study, direct STING agonist, cyclic GMP-AMP (cGAMP), were used together with different cholesterol inhibitors to activate DCs and macrophages. It was found that cholesterol inhibitor treatment led to an increased STING sensitivity to cGAMP treatment, due to increased ER sequestering of STING. The combination treatment with cGAMP and cholesterol inhibitors strongly increased the maturation of human and murine DCs and the activation of human macrophages *in vitro*. When cholesterol inhibition therapy was applied *in vivo* for treatment in a murine tumor model, a reduction in tumor growth was detected.

Collectively, these studies indicate that activation of DCs in a STING dependent manner is possible by targeting dsDNA directly to the cells, or by exposing the cells to cGAMP. Furthermore, in the latter situation, the maturational response can be enhanced by the addition of cholesterol inhibitors. Possibly, these methods of increasing the T cell-activating capacity of DCs could be a valuable addition to immunotherapeutic treatment against cancer.

## DANSK RESUME

Det er kendt, at immunitet og kræft er forbundet i et tæt forhold. Viden om hvordan immunsystemet er involveret i udviklingen og elimineringen af tumorer har ført til en revolution inden for kræftbehandling med udviklingen af anti-kræftimmunterapi. Potentialet i immunterapi mod kræft er blevet velbekræftet via checkpoint blokade, som kan føre til øget overlevelse af kræftpatienter ved at løfte kræftcellernes undertrykkelse af T celler. Dog forholder det sig således, at hos nogle patienter ses der kun ringe effekt af denne behandlingstype, og det er derfor af høj interesse at finde nye tiltag og udvikle ny terapi, der kan bruges som supplement til checkpoint blokadeterapien. Dendritceller (DC) er stærkt involveret i den immunologiske regulering af kræft, specielt eftersom de er professionelle antigen-præsenterende celler der kan aktivere T celler og hermed kan forme immunresponset. Type I interferoner har vist sig at være meget vigtige i aktiveringen af DC'er og kan øge deres evne til at formidle den T celle afhængige eliminering af tumorer. Molekylet Stimulator of Interferon Genes (STING) er en vigtig facilitator af type I interferon-produktionen i mange forskellige celletyper, inklusiv DC'er. Målretning af terapi mod DC'er og STING med henblik på at øge type I interferonproduktionen og aktiveringen af immunresponser kan derfor meget vel være en god behandlingsmåde til at styrke den immunologiske krig mod kræft.

Gennem to studier har vi undersøgt muligheden for at målrette terapi mod DC'er og STING som et muligt bidrag til den immunterapeutiske kræftbehandling. I det første studie konturerede vi et DC-målrettet adjuvans. Det konstruerede adjuvans bestod af et antistof specifikt rettet mod et DC-overflademolekyle, CD11c, som blev konjugeret med dsDNA, der er kendt for at kunne aktivere STING, og vi analyserede modningsstatus af DC'erne. Vi så, at målretning af dsDNA mod DC'er førte til øget modning af cellerne, afhængig af STING, og ydermere øgede det cellernes evne til at stimulere T celler. I det andet studie anvendte vi den direkte STING agonist, cGAMP, i kombination med kolesterolhæmmer, til at aktivere DC'er og makrofager. Vi så, at behandling med kolesterolhæmmer førte til en øget sensitivitet af STING for cGAMP behandling, via en øget frigivelse af STING fra ER. Kombinationsbehandlingen havde en stærkt forøgende virkning på modningen af humane og murine DC'er og aktiveringen af humane makrofager *in vitro*. Når kolesterolhæmmer terapi blev anvendt *in vivo* til behandling i en murin tumor model observerede vi en reduktion i tumorvækst.

Samlet set peger disse studier mod, at en STING-afhængig aktivering af DC'er er mulig ved målretning af DNA mod cellerne via CD11c og ved at anvende kombinationsbehandling med kolesterolhæmmer og cGAMP. Begge behandlingsmetoder kan være værdifulde tilføjelser til det immunterapeutiske forsvar mod kræft.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to thank my principal supervisor, Associate Professor Ralf Agger, for providing me with the opportunity to work as a PhD student in the Laboratory of Immunology at Aalborg University. I highly appreciate all the knowledge and skills I have gained during this time and the great discussions we have had of the scientific work, in which he has provided me with many ideas and support to the experimental setups and the technical executions.

In continuation of this, I want to thank Ralf Agger for helping me establish my research stay in Oslo and I would like to show my gratitude to Professor Bjarne Bogen and Ranveig Braathen, for supervising the work during this time.

I would like to highly acknowledge my co-supervisor, Associate Professor Emil Kofod-Olsen for his supervision of the project. Our discussions about the scientific work, his support and contribution to the planning and execution of all experiments and his overall support and positive mind have made it a joy to work with this project.

Additionally, I would like to thank Emil Kofod-Olsen for establishing the collaboration with colleagues at Aarhus University, who have contributed a great deal to the project. In this regard, I want to show my appreciation for the contributions to the project made by Associate Professor Martin Roelsgaard Jakobsen and Emil Nilsson.

Furthermore, I want to show my appreciation of our laboratory technician Brita Holst Serup, for teaching me about a variety of laboratory methods and helping me with experimental executions when I was still quite green. Her work certifying the high standard of the experimental laboratories has ensured that all work could be executed easily and safely, which is highly valued. In addition, I would like to acknowledge the support and assistance given from many of my other colleagues at Aalborg University, which have contributed to making the execution of the project possible.

The Danish Cancer Society, Familien Eriksens Mindefond, Aase, Einar Danielsens Fond, and Else og Morgens Wedell-Wedellborgs Fond, are acknowledged for their financial support of the project.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1. Introduction19	9
1.1. Immunity Meets Oncology	9
1.1.1. Cancer Immunity	9
1.1.2. Eliminate, Equilibrate, Escape	0
1.2. The Dendritic Cell	3
1.2.1. Ontogeny and Subtypes	3
1.2.2. Antigen Presentation and Maturation	7
1.3. Type I Interferons and the STING Pathway	9
1.3.1. Type I Interferons	9
1.3.2. Signaling via STING	0
1.4. Fighting Cancer with Immunotherapy	2
1.4.1. Dendritic Cell-Based Immunotherapy	2
1.4.2. STING Activation and Immunotherapy	5
Chapter 2. Objectives	9
Chapter 3. Results41	1
3.1. Study I	1
3.1. Study II	2
Chapter 4. Discussion43	3
4.1. Methodological Considerations	3
4.1.1. Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells	3
4.1.2. Bone Marrow-Derived Dendritic Cells 44	4
4.1.3. THP-1 Maturation Model 44	4
4.1.4. Murine Tumor Models	6
4.1.5. Therapeutic Strategies	7
4.2. General Discussion	9
4.2.1. Targeting Dendritic Cells	9
4.2.2. Priming the STING Pathway	1
4.2.2. Priming the STING Pathway	1 5

## LIST OF MANUSCRIPTS

Manuscript I: M. F. Laursen, E. Christensen, L. L. T. Degn, K. Jønsson, M. R. Jakobsen, R. Agger and E. Kofod-Olsen, "CD11c-targeted Delivery of DNA to Dendritic Cells Leads to cGAS- and STING-dependent Maturation", Journal of Immunotherapy, vol. 41, (1), pp. 9-18, 2018

*Review I:* <u>M. Fyrstenberg Laursen</u>, E. Kofod-Olsen and R. Agger, "Activation of dendritic cells by targeted DNA: a potential addition to the armamentarium for anticancer immunotherapy", *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy, pp. 1-6, 2019* 

*Manuscript II:* <u>M.F. Laursen\*</u>, E. Nilsson\*, B. Zhang, A. Etzerodt, A. Banasik, C. Zeiler, P. Owczarska, M. Jahn, R. Agger, S. R. Paludan, E. Kofod-Olsen and M. R. Jakobsen. "Inhibition of Membrane Cholesterol Primes STING by Endoplasmic Reticulum Sequestration and Inhibits Growth of Murine Subcutaneous Tumors" *[Manuscript in preparation]* 

\*Shared Authorship

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Ab	Antibody
Ag	Antigen
BMDC	Bone Marrow-Derived Dendritic Cell
cDC	Conventional Dendritic Cell
CDN	Cyclic di-Nucleotide
cGAMP	Cyclic GMP-AMP
cGAS	Cyclic GMP-AMP Synthase
CLR	C-type lectin receptor
cMoP	Common Monocyte Progenitor
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated Protein 4
DAMP	Damage Associated Molecular Pattern
DC	Dendritic Cell
ER	Endoplasmic Reticulum
iDC	Immature Dendritic Cell
IDO	Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
IRF	Interferon Regulatory Factor
LC	Langerhans Cell
mDC	Mature Dendritic Cell
MDP	Macrophage and Dendritic Cell Progenitor
MDSC	Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
moDC	Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cell
MPS	Mononuclear Phagocyte System
MβCD	Methyl-Beta Cyclodextrin
NK Cells	Natural Killer Cells
OVA	Ovalbumin

PAMP	Pathogen Associated Molecular Pattern
PD-1	Programmed Cell Death Protein
pDC	Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cell
PD-L1	Programmed Death Ligand 1
STING	Stimulator of Interferon Genes
TA	Tumor Antigen
TGF-β	Transforming Growth Factor Beta
TME	Tumor Microenvironment
Tregs	Regulatory T Cells
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor

## **CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION**

The immune system plays an important role in the development and elimination of cancer and it is quite evident that the immune system can be modulated with therapy, leading to enhanced immunological elimination of tumors. This became especially clear in 2018, when the Nobel Prize in Medicine or Physiology was awarded to James P. Allison and Tasuku Honjo for their development of checkpoint inhibition, a type of immunotherapy which is now used in the treatment of several cancer types [1]. To utilize the immune system for cancer treatment, it is important to understand the complexity of why people develop cancer and how the immune system is involved in this process.

The following introduction will try to elucidate the connection between immunity and cancer and take a closer look on how therapeutic approaches can increase activation of the immune system to fight cancer. The focus will be on how dendritic cells (DCs) can be activated and how this may improve immune responses against cancer. A review of the STING signaling pathway will be given with the goal of explaining how this pathway is involved in the linkage between innate and adaptive immunity. How therapy aiming to activate dendritic cells and the STING pathway can be an option for cancer treatment is what this thesis pursues to clarify.

## **1.1. IMMUNITY MEETS ONCOLOGY**

Why do people develop cancer? This is a question that researchers have been seeking to answer for many years. Hanahan and Weinberg [2, 3] have summarized The Hallmarks of Cancer, which explains how it is possible for cancers to emerge. Originally, the theory described six hallmarks or alterations in the cell's physiology, which can cause a normal cell to develop into a cancer cell [2]. Several factors can induce this transformation, including viral infections, exposure to carcinogens or radiation, innate genetic defects or chronic inflammation [4]. After a decade of research, The Hallmarks of Cancer theory was expanded to include even more hallmarks. One of the new hallmarks described in the expanded theory is called Evasion of Immune Destruction [3]. This highlights that there is indeed a relationship between the immune system and cancer, and that the ability of tumor cells to avoid the immune system is a key factor involved in the establishment of clinically detectable malignancies.

### **1.1.1. CANCER IMMUNITY**

The connection between the immune system and cancer has been recognized for several decades. Back in the 1950's, Burnet and Thomas [5, 6] started the groundwork which would eventually lead to the development of the concept of immunological

surveillance, which was summarized by Burnet [7] in 1970. Years of research on the link between immune- and tumor cells followed, and the immunological surveillance concept was updated in the beginning of 2000 by Dunn and colleagues [8], who proposed the new: Cancer Immunoediting Theory. This theory describes the consequences of the meeting between immunity and cancer as a three-phase process, referring to what happens to the tumor cells, which can either be eliminated, become part of an equilibrium or escape [4, 8]. The latest update of the theory about immuno-oncology was made by Chen and Mellman [9], who introduced the Cancer Immunity Cycle. This theory describes a 7-step process of how the immune system can effectively eliminate tumor cells. As such, this theory does not abolish the cancer immunoediting theory, but rather introduces a more detailed description of the elimination phase [9].

### 1.1.2. ELIMINATE, EQUILIBRATE, ESCAPE

Understanding the relationship between the immune system and tumor cells, especially in the elimination- and escape phase, is crucial to lay out the groundwork to develop effective immunotherapy (**Figure 1**).

Within the first phase of immunoediting, *elimination*, lies the original theory of immunosurveillance, and the cancer immunity cycle can be used to describe the phase in more detail. In the elimination phase, the immune system is alerted to the presence of tumor cells. Innate immune cells infiltrating the tumor site starts the process. Macrophages produce IL-12, which can activate Natural Killer Cells (NK cells) and Natural Killer T Cells (NKT cells), which play an important role at this stage. This has been revealed in studies where depletion of NKT and/or NK cells results in increased susceptibility to tumor development in a methylcholanthrene (MCA) induced tumor model [10, 11]. NK cells can induce perforin-dependent cytotoxicity, and in a perforin lacking mouse model, tumor growth is accelerated [12], confirming the important role of these innate immune cells. Similarly, in models lacking γδ T cells tumors are more prone to develop [13].  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are a source of IFN- $\gamma$ , a cytokine playing a central role in immunosurveillance [14]. Mice lacking the IFN- $\gamma$ receptor subunit or the transcription factor Stat1, leading to disruption of the IFN- $\gamma$ signaling pathway, develop tumors more rapidly than wild type mice [15]. Similarly, mice lacking the IFN-I receptor subunit, making them insensitive to IFN-I, are more susceptible to tumor development [16].

The generation of an inflammatory environment at the tumor site promotes cell death, resulting in the release of tumor antigens (TAs) and danger signals [17]. Once the tumor cells start releasing TAs, the initiation of an adaptive anti-tumor immune response commences. The cancer immunity cycle, introduced by Chen and Mellman [9], extends the description of the elimination phase through seven steps: In step 1, TAs are released from the tumor cells, and together with danger signals, these are captured by DCs. In step 2, activated DCs travel to lymph nodes and present TAs to

naïve T cells via MHC-I and II molecules. When T cells have recognized the presented TA, they are primed and activated in step **3**. Activated T cells travel via the blood stream to the tumor site in step **4** and infiltrate the tumor site in step **5**. In step **6** the T cells meet and recognize the tumor cells, which leads to step **7**, where the tumor cells are eliminated by the T cells [9]. The killing of tumor cells completes the cycle and causes the release of more TAs and danger signals, leading to epitope spreading, and thus the cycle starts over again [9]. Especially important in the killing of tumor cells are the T cells. The role of lymphocytes is clearly shown in models containing knockout of the RAG2 gene [18], resulting in a complete lack of functional lymphocytes. The lack of lymphocytes results in enhanced tumor growth and the generation of more immunogenic tumors, compared to immunocompetent controls [19]. Furthermore, it has been shown that cancer patients, which have high amounts of tumor-infiltrating T cells, have a better prognosis than patients with low T cell infiltration [20].

The elimination phase allows the host's immune system to eradicate tumor cells, however, if not successful, it will lead the immune system and the tumor cells into an *equilibrium*, forming more vicious non-immunogenic tumors. The pressure put on the tumor cells by T cells and IFN- $\gamma$  is likely to kill all immunosensitive tumor cells, but spare mutated non-immunogenic tumor cells. The mutated tumor cells, resistant to immune destruction, can expand, and this leads to the last phase of immunoediting, *escape* [8].

The *escape* phase arises when tumor cells develop sneaky ways to hide pugholmlyes from the immune system. Tumor cells secrete factors that have immune suppressive effects. These factors include Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF), which weakens DC function [21], Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase (IDO), hampering T cell proliferation through the metabolism of tryptophan [22], and MHC Class I Chain Related-Protein A/B (MICA/B), that binds to Natural Killer Group 2D Receptor (NKG2D), expressed on NK,  $\gamma\delta$  T and  $\alpha\beta$  T cells, suppressing their function [23]. Tumor cells also have the ability to directly avoid T cell cytotoxic elimination, via upregulation of Programmed Death Ligand 1 (PD-L1), which interacts with surface receptors on T cells, inducing apoptosis in the cells [24]. Furthermore, immune cells can become tolerogenic in the tumor microenvironment (TME). This can be caused by the presence of the tolerogenic cytokines, Transforming Growth Factor  $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) and Interleukin 10 (IL-10). TGF- $\beta$  and IL-10 draw macrophages into the tumor site, which in turn increases the generation of TGF- $\beta$  and IL-10. TGF- $\beta$  induce suppression of NK cells, DCs and T cells. This cytokine also leads to the generation of Regulatory T Cells (Tregs), which further promotes the tolerogenic environment through the production of TGF-B and IL-10. Tregs also directly inhibit T cells via expression of PD-L1 and Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte Associated Protein 4 (CTLA-4), which promote T cell anergy [25]. Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells (MDSC) attracted to the tumor site by the immunosuppressive factors contribute to the production of TGF- $\beta$ , leading to anergy of NK- and T cells and generation of Tregs [26, 27].



**Figure 1.** Overview of the interplay between tumor- and immune cells during immunoediting [8]. Tissue being transformed enter the *elimination* phase where the immune system can restore normality of the cells. This is described through the seven steps in the cancer immunity cycle [9]. **1.** DCs capture antigens and danger signals released at the tumor site. **2.** Activated DCs travel to lymph nodes and present tumor antigens to T cells. **3.** Leading to T cell priming and activation. **4.** Activated T cells proliferate and travel to the tumor site. **5.** T cells infiltrate the tumor site. **6.** T cells interact and recognize the tumor cells. **7.** T cells induce cytotoxic killing of the tumor cells. Transformed tissue can enter the *equilibrium* phase leading to generation of mutated non-immunogenic tumors and the entry into the *escape* phase where several suppressive mechanisms lead to the development of clinically apparent malignancies. Abbreviations:  $\gamma\delta$ -T cell. **NKT** cell. **NK:** NK cell. **iDC:** immature dendritic cell. **M\$\vee\$**. To cells.

The main goal of immunotherapy against cancer is to lift the immunosuppressive environment created at the tumor site, so the immune system can reactivate the cancer immunity cycle and eliminate the cancer. Novel therapies targeting different parts of the immune system, involved in immunoediting, have been developed, and most striking is perhaps the checkpoint blockade therapy, which is being used for treatment of a range of different cancer types. This therapy utilizes monoclonal antibodies targeted against CTLA-4, PD-1 or PD-L1, lifting the suppressive hold of T cells [28-30]. The use of checkpoint blockade in the clinic has proven to be useful. However, some patients still fall short in responding to the treatment and focusing on developing new therapies targeting other parts of the immune system, could be the next step in the immunological fight against cancer. A cell that plays a major role in the meeting between immunity and cancer is the DC since these cells can connect the innate- and adaptive immune system.

## **1.2. THE DENDRITIC CELL**

Once upon a time in the 1970's, Ralph Steinman and Zanvil Cohn, made the discovery of a novel cell type in the spleen of mice. The characteristic morphology of this cell type, with its stellate appearance, made it stand out from the heterogenous group of spleen cells. Through *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies of the cells' morphology, it became clear that its distinct appearance was owed to its dynamic dendritic cell processes, giving rise to the name and the tale of this novel cell type: the Dendritic Cell (DC) [31].

### **1.2.1. ONTOGENY AND SUBTYPES**

In the beginning of the 1970's, a classification system for macrophages and monocytes, named the Mononuclear Phagocyte System (MPS), saw the light of day [32]. With the discovery of DCs, these joined the MPS [33]. DCs are located in blood, lymphoid- and non-lymphoid tissue, and their primary role is to form a link between the innate- and adaptive immune system [34]. During the last five decades, intensive research has been carried out to elucidate the role and function of DCs. DCs are a very heterogeneous group of cells and the need for a common nomenclature and subdivision of DC types has been necessary. This, however, has proven to be a rather difficult assignment and considerable disagreement on how to subdivide DCs has also led to considerable confusion for many researchers [35]. The fact that a direct translation from the murine system to the human system does not seem possible, has further complicated the issue. However, in recent years, a broad consensus about ways to subdivide the heterogenous group of DCs based on ontogeny, phenotype, location and/or function, has emerged [35, 36].

As suggested by Guilliams et al. [35], a way to start the process of division, is by looking at the development of the cells within the MPS. During the last couple of decades, the ontogeny of murine DCs, monocytes and macrophages has been mapped,

and this provides researchers with a type of classification system of these cells. It has been suggested that the ontogeny of DCs is conserved across species [37], and therefore the classification based on ontogeny can be applied in both the human and the murine system.

DCs have a short lifespan and are therefore constantly being renewed. This process starts in the bone marrow where they develop from a distinct hematopoietic lineage [36]. The different stages of development are defined by the cell phenotype (Figure 2). In 2006 [38], it was discovered that cells within the MPS originate from one common progenitor termed the macrophage and dendritic cell progenitor (MDP). This cell type is defined as being negative for CD3, CD19, CD54 and CD14 lineage markers (Lin<sup>-</sup>), and by the expression of CX<sub>3</sub>CR1 and c-Kit (or CD117) [33, 38, 39]. Following the discovery of MDPs, another progenitor cell was found, which specifically gives rise to DCs, originally described with the term pro-DC [40], but later the name Common Dendritic Cell Progenitor (CDP) was adapted to the terminology. CDPs are defined as Lin<sup>-</sup>c-Kit<sup>int</sup> and by the expression of M-CSFR (or CD115) and Flt3 (or CD135) [40, 41]. The terminology and subdivision of DCs applied here is based on Guilliams et al. [35] and includes: plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) and conventional DCs (cDCs), which can be further divided into Conventional Type 1 DCs (cDC1) and Conventional Type 2 DCs (cDC2). A precursor cell for cDCs has been identified in the bone marrow, blood, spleen and lymph nodes [42]. This precursor cell gives rise only to cDCs and not pDCs. It is defined as Lin-SIRP- $\alpha^{\text{int}}$ CD11c<sup>+</sup>MHC-II<sup>-</sup>Flt3<sup>+</sup>, and is termed preDC [42, 43].

In addition to pDCs and cDCs, another DC subtype derived from monocytes, termed monocyte-derived dendritic cells (moDCs), develops during inflammatory conditions [33]. Previously, it was thought that monocytes developed directly from MDPs. However, a new progenitor cell was identified in mouse bone marrow and spleen. This cell gives rise to monocytes, but not any of the DC subtypes. This progenitor cell, termed common monocyte progenitor (cMoP), is defined as Lin<sup>-</sup>cKit<sup>+</sup>M-CSFR<sup>+</sup>Flt3<sup>-</sup>LyC6<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>-</sup>, but also expresses CX<sub>3</sub>CR1, and is negative for DC markers, including CD11c and MHC-II [44].

The four DC subtypes, namely the moDC, pDC, cDC1 and cDC2, have different phenotypes and functions, and their differentiation depends on different transcription factors and cytokines (**Figure 2**). Furthermore, when defining the different DCs, tissue-location is often an included factor. As mentioned, it is not doable to translate directly from mouse to human when defining DCs. Murine DCs are the most well studied and well defined in terms of phenotype and function. In the following, the division of DC subtypes, based on all these factors, distinguishing between the human and murine system, will be given.



Figure 2. Overview of dendritic cell ontogeny (top) and human and mouse subtypes (bottom). Phenotypical markers are listed in boxes next to the specific cell type in corresponding colors. Cytokines and transcription factors (marked in italic) involved in cell development is listed in overview of cell ontogeny (top). Abbreviations: MDP: Macrophage and Dendritic Cell Progenitor. cMOP: Common Monocyte Progenitor. moDC: Monocyte-derived Dendritic Cell. CDP: Common Dendritic Cell Progenitor. preDC: pre-Dendritic Cell. pDC: Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cell. cDC1: Conventional Type 1 Dendritic Cell. cDC2: Conventional Type 2 Dendritic Cells. LC: Langerhans Cells.

The story of the conventional DCs start in the mouse, where cDC1 and cDC2 are located in lymphoid and non-lymphoid tissue. While markers such as CD11c and MHC-II are expressed by both cell types, other phenotypical markers can be used to distinguish cDC1 and cDC2 cells from each other. cDC1s located in peripheral tissue express CD103 [45], while cDC1s located in lymphoid tissue express CD8 $\alpha$  [46], and these two phenotypically different cells have similar development [47], hence both are referred to as cDC1. Independent of tissue location, both CD103<sup>+</sup>- and CD8 $\alpha^+$  cDC1s express XCR1 [48]. A more resent approach to distinguish between DC subtypes is based on transcriptomic analyses, which has shown that the development of different DC subtypes is dependent on a unique set of transcription factors. cDC1s are dependent on transcription factors IRF8, Id-2 and Batf3 [49-52], whereas other transcription factors are involved in the development of other DC subtypes. Finally, the environment also plays a role in DC differentiation, and cDC1 development depends on different cytokines, including Flt3L [53, 54]. The human equivalent to murine cDC1s is identified by the expression of CD141 (BDCA3) [55].

The cDC2 population is a more heterogenous, or perhaps just a more undefined, cell group. However, one general marker can be used to identify cDC2s in all tissues, namely CD11b. CD11b<sup>+</sup> cells found in non-lymphoid tissue, arising from DC restricted progenitors, are defined as CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup>, and their development is controlled by Flt3L and GM-CSF, whereas those arising from circulating monocytes are defined as CD103<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup>, and their development is controlled primarily by M-CSF [56]. cDC2s found in lymphoid tissue are defined by the expression of CD11b, and the lack of CD8 $\alpha$ , and their homeostasis is dependent on Lymphotoxin- $\beta$  [57]. cDC2s found in lymphoid tissue can be further divided into two groups based on their expression of ESAM and CD4, given two cDC2 phenotypes, CD11b<sup>+</sup>ESAM<sup>hi</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD11b<sup>+</sup>ESAM<sup>low</sup>CD4<sup>-</sup> [58]. Transcription factors important for cDC2s development include: RelB, Notch2 and IRF4 [58-60]. In humans, the cells related to murine cDC2s are defined specifically by the expression of CD1c and as CD11b<sup>+</sup>MHC-II<sup>hi</sup> [61, 62].

The story of how pDCs was discovered is different to cDCs, since this cell type was first described in humans [63, 64]. However, research on pDC development and function was not initiated until the discovery of their murine equivalent [65, 66]. pDCs specialize in IFN-I production during viral disease, and in mice they can be identified by the expression of CD11c, B220 and Ly6C [65]. In humans, the expression of CD123, CD303 and CD304 characterizes this specific subtype, which does not express the common DC marker CD11c [61]. Their development is uniquely dependent on the transcription factor E2-2 and to some extent also on IRF4 [49, 67]. In mice, pDC development depends on Flt3L, while in humans it depends on IL-3 [68].

moDCs are found in lymphoid and non-lymphoid tissue during inflammation [69, 70] and phenotypically, they resemble DCs, which can be generated *in vitro* from

peripheral blood monocytes upon culture with cytokines, GM-CSF and IL-4 [71-73]. Their phenotype in mice is defined by the expression of CD11c, CD11b, and MHC-II, similar to cDCs, but they also express CD64 and FccRI, making it possible to distinguish them from the cDCs [74-77]. In humans, the expression of CD11c, MHC-II, CD1c, CD1a and FccRI, is used to identify moDCs [78, 79].

In 1868, Paul Langerhans discovered a neuron-like cell type in the epidermis of mice, later named the epidermal Langerhans Cell (LCs) [80]. Since the discovery of the DCs, LCs have been classified as part of the DC compartment, although they are often referred to as the macrophage of the DC population. One reason for this categorization is, that contrary to other DC subtypes, LCs originate from embryonic fetal liver monocytes and yolk sack hematopoiesis persisting throughout life, through self-renewal rather than through constant renewal from hematopoietic stem cells, as the other shortlived DCs [81]. Specific for murine LCs are their expression of Langerin, but as other DC subsets they also express MHC-II and CD11c. Human LCs express the same markers, and differently from the murine cells, they also express CD1a [82].

### **1.2.2. ANTIGEN PRESENTATION AND MATURATION**

The main function of DCs is to activate the adaptive immune system. They do this through their highly developed ability to capture antigens, traveling to lymphoid tissue and presenting the captured antigens to naïve T cells, and activating these. DCs are present in non-lymphoid tissue. They are strategically located in places giving them close contact to the environment, ready to capture antigens. In lymphoid tissue, a similar location strategy applies. DCs are standing guard in the spleen as well as in lymph nodes in the marginal zone and at the subcapsular sinus, respectively, on the look-out for blood- and lymph-borne antigens [83]. When DCs are guarding their post as first line defense against antigens, they are referred to as immature DCs (iDC). iDCs have a high capacity to take up antigens, either via endocytosis or macropinocytosis [84, 85]. Since guarding their post is their most important job, they have a low expression of chemokine receptors, co-stimulatory molecules and antigen presenting molecules. When iDCs encounter a danger signal, this changes the fate of the DCs. As the name implies, danger signals are molecules able to alert the immune system of danger. Two categories of danger signals exist. Exogenous molecules, derived from infectious agents, are known as Pathogen Associated Molecular Patterns (PAMPs), and endogenous molecules derived from cancer cells, dving cells or damaged tissue, are known as Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns (DAMPs) [86, 87]. Common for these molecules is that they can bind to Pattern Recognition Receptors (PRRs), which are highly expressed on antigen presenting cells. PRRs comprise of receptors present in cell membranes and endocytic compartments, including C-Type Lectin Receptors (CLRs) as well as a wide range of Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs), and receptors present in the cytoplasm, including Nod-Like Receptors (NLRs), Rig-Like Receptors (RLRs) and AIM2-Like Receptors (ALRs). The former recognize extracellular ligands and the latter intracellular ligands [88].

Once DCs have encountered an antigen and danger signals, they transition into mature DCs (mDC), priming them to become professional antigen presenters and T cell activators. Firstly, iDCs change their expression of chemokine receptors by upregulating CCR4, CXCR4 and especially CCR7, which promotes their migration to lymphoid tissue expressing receptor ligands [89]. Further, mDCs are characterized by a decrease in phagocytotic activity, increased cytokine production and upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules, e.g. CD80 and CD86, and MHC-I and II molecules, leading to an increased ability to process and present antigens to lymphocytes [90]. All these factors play an important role in the activation of T cells, which depends on three signals being admitted by DCs. The first signal is the presentation of Ags on MHC molecules, which is recognized by specific T cells via the TCR, and this signal is essential for initiating adaptive immune responses [91]. Exogenous antigens are processed and presented via MHC-II molecules and endogenous antigens via MHC-I. However, DCs have the remarkable ability to process exogenous antigens and present them via MHC-I molecules, a process known as cross presentation. Cross presentation can occur through two different pathways, the cytosolic and the vacuolar [92]. Via the cytosolic pathway, exogenous Ags escape the phagosomes and become available for MHC-I molecules after proteasome degradation in the cytosol, followed by the transport into the ER or back into the phagosome via Transporter Associated with Antigen Processing (TAP). The vacuolar pathway is considered TAPindependent, meaning that exogenous Ags are degraded in the phagosome before loading on MHC-I molecules [92]. Upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules, CD80 and CD86, enables DCs to interact with CD28 on T cells and provides the second signal. The third signal is delivered via cytokines produced by DCs and the DC - T cell interaction is important in determining the fate of the immune response [91]. DCs polarize naïve T cells into effector T helper cells (Th cells) of different types. The categorization of Th subsets has been an area of debate and uncertainty; however, some consensus has been reached making it possible to define five major subsets, namely, Th1, Th2, Th17, Tregs and T follicular helper (Tfh) cells [93]. Lineage development of Th1 cells is initiated by the transcription factor; T box expressed in T cells (T-bet) [94]. Polarization of Th1 cells is induced by IL-12, IFN-I and IFN-y, and their function is essential for the defense against intracellular infections and cancers, via their production of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\beta$  [93, 95]. The commitment to a Th2 subtype is controlled by the transcription factor GATA-3, while the cytokines involved in Th2 development include IL-4, IL-6, IL-10 and IL-11 [95, 96]. Th2 commitment leads to production of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13. These cytokines are important for the generation of immune responses against extracellular pathogens, including parasites [93, 95]. Th17 cells particularly produce IL-17A, IL-17F and IL-22. They play a major role in the generation of autoimmune inflammation and in the generation of immune responses against extracellular bacteria and fungi [93, 95]. The orphan nuclear receptor RORyt is the main transcription factor involved in Th17 cell differentiation and IL-6, TGF-β, IL-21 as well as IL-23 promote Th17 polarization [93, 97]. Treg development is regulated by transcription factor Foxp3, and cytokines IL-2 and TGF- $\beta$  [98, 99]. They produce IL-10 as well as TGF- $\beta$  and can regulate immune responses and prevent autoimmunity [100]. Thf cells represent the fifth major Th cell subset, and their development is dependent on transcription factor Bcl6 and on IL-6 or IL-21 [93, 101-103]. The cells are critical for the maintenance of germinal centers, for helping and regulating B cells and for Ig class switching [101]. In immune responses against cancer, Th1 polarization is preferable and it is therefore of great interest to get DCs to produce cytokines which promotes Th1 differentiation.

## **1.3. TYPE I INTERFERONS AND THE STING PATHWAY**

It is becoming apparent that immune responses against malignancies resembles immune responses seen during viral infections. Type I Interferons has long been known to play an important role in anti-viral immune responses [104], and thus, IFN-I is emerging as a very important player in cancer immunity.

### **1.3.1. TYPE I INTERFERONS**

Interferons belong to a family of cytokines consisting of three subtypes. IFN- $\gamma$  is the only type II IFN, while the type III IFNs consist of IFN- $\lambda$  1-4. Type I IFNs are the largest member of the family and includes IFN- $\alpha$  1-13, IFN- $\beta$ , IFN- $\epsilon$ , IFN- $\tau$ , IFN- $\kappa$  and IFN $\omega$ . IFN-I can affect a broad range of cells and signals upon binding to their common transmembrane receptor Interferon  $\alpha/\beta$  Receptor 1/2 (IFNAR1/2) [105]. Upon binding of IFN-I, two kinases are recruited, Tyrosine Kinase (TYK2) and Janus Kinase (JAK1) [106, 107]. This recruitment leads to dimerization and phosphorylation of STAT1 and STAT2 [108-110]. STAT1/2 unites with IRF9 and forms a transcription factor complex, Interferon Stimulated Gene Factor 3 (ISGF3), which travels to the nucleus and interact with Interferon Stimulated Response Elements (ISREs) leading to the transcription of a variety of immune-regulatory genes [105].

The effector functions initiated by IFN-I affects cells involved in anti-tumor immunity. IFN-I is necessary to uphold adequate numbers of NK cells in homeostasis and is also required for elimination of tumors sensitive to NK mediated rejection [111]. IFN-I functions as a third signal for T cells, increasing their proliferation and clonal expansion as well as their capacity to produce IFN- $\gamma$  and introduce cytotoxic killing [112, 113]. In addition, it stimulates the generation of memory T cells [114]. DCs increase their migratory capacity, maturation and activity via an autocrine response to IFN-I [115, 116]. Importantly, IFN-I also enhances DCs ability to cross-present Ags to T cells [117, 118]. This aptitude is essential for DCs to induce tumor rejection via T cell activation [119, 120] and highlights the desire to develop immunotherapy, which can promote DC activation and IFN-I production.

### **1.3.2. SIGNALING VIA STING**

An important inducer of IFN-I production is the Stimulator of Interferon Genes (STING), identified in 2008 by Ishikawa and colleagues [121]. STING is a protein consisting of 379 or 378 amino acids in human and mouse, respectively, with a molecular weight of ~42 kD [121]. It contains five transmembrane domains and is located in the ER in a broad range of cells. STING activation leads to the recruitment of TANK-Binding Kinase 1 (TBK1) and the formation of a STING-TBK1 complex, leading to phosphorylation of STING [122, 123]. Once phosphorylated, the activated STING-TBK1 complex interacts with the transcription factor, Interferon Regulatory Factor 3 (IRF3), which forms an active phosphorylated dimer and translocate to the nucleus and initiate the transcription of IFN-I genes [122-124]. STING can also interact with I-Kappa Kinase  $\alpha/\beta$  (IKK $\alpha/\beta$ ), leading to the phosphorylation of the two molecules and the activation of the transcription factor Nuclear Factor-Kappa B (NF- $\kappa$ B), which in the nucleus introduce transcription of interferon- and pro-inflammatory cytokine genes, including IFN-I, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 [124, 125]. Upon activation, new evidence indicates that STING travels from the ER and establishes its primary signaling at the ER Golgi Intermediate Compartment (ERGIC) [126, 127]. After STING has played its role at the ERGIC, it travels through the Golgi and interacts with Rab7, indicating endolysosomal degradation [128] (Figure 3).

The activation of STING is triggered upon the interaction with cyclic dinucleotides (CDNs). CDNs can originate from several sources; either directly from bacteria, e.g. c-di-GMP, c-di-AMP, and bacterial 3'5'-cyclic GMP-AMP (cGAMP), or from the cell itself in the form of 2'3'-cGAMP, which is generated after cytosolic DNA sensing [129-132]. Cytosolic DNA can be foreign DNA of viral or bacterial origin, or self-DNA originating from dead cells or tumor cells [124, 133]. dsDNA present in the cell cytosol is sensed by cyclic GMP-AMP synthase (cGAS) [134]. cGAS is a 60 kD enzyme, containing a nucleotidyl transferase domain, enabling the conversion of GTP and ATP into 2'3'-cGAMP as well as two DNA binding domains, binding directly to the DNA backbone, and therefore makes the recognition independent of DNA sequence [131, 134-136] (**Figure 3**).



**Figure 3.** Overview of signaling via the STING Pathway. dsDNA in the cytosol is recognized by cGAS which catalyzes the generation of cGAMP. cGAMP is a STING agonist and binds to STING at the ER and activated STING recruits IKK $\alpha\beta$  and/or TBK1. The complex travels to the ERGIC and after phosphorylation of IRF3 and NF- $\kappa$ B these two transcription factors translocate to the nucleus an induce transcription of INF-I and inflammatory cytokines. STING translocates through the Golgi and is degraded in endolysosomes in a Rab7 dependent manner. Abbreviations: **cGAS**: cyclic GMP-AMP synthase. **cGAMP**: cyclic GMP-AMP. **STING**: Stimulator of Interferon Genes. **ER**: endoplasmic reticulum. **ERGIC**: ER Golgi Intermediate Compartment.

## **1.4. FIGHTING CANCER WITH IMMUNOTHERAPY**

The field of immunotherapy against cancer has been revolutionized during the last decade. The point of immunotherapy is to boost the patient's own immune system and lift any suppressive hold on the immune cells, leading to immune mediated elimination of tumor cells. Currently, the strategies to do this include therapy with checkpoint inhibitors, vaccines, cytokines and cellular therapy [137]. Checkpoint inhibitors is a form of therapy applying monoclonal antibodies targeted against PD-1, PD-L1 or CTLA-4, which can reverse the suppressive effects induced by the upregulation of these molecules on tumor- and immune cells in the TME [1]. Checkpoint blockade therapy, applied for treatment of several cancers, has proven safe in a range of patients, and it can improve survival when used, either as monotherapy or in combination with other therapies [138-140]. A vaccine using autologous DCs, Sipuleucel-T, has been FDA approved for treatment of prostate cancer, and it has been shown to improve patient survival [141]. Treatment with cytokines, including IL-2 and IFNa, and cellular treatment with CAR T cells have also shown promise as anti-tumor treatment [142-144]. However, with monotreatment, the effect in many patients is still rather low, and the development of new immunotherapeutic approaches, which can be used in combinational therapy, is therefore very relevant.

### 1.4.1. DENDRITIC CELL-BASED IMMUNOTHERAPY

Applying DCs as vaccine formulations is an appealing method for immunotherapy against cancer. Currently, it is somewhat of a jungle to figure out how to best utilize DCs for this purpose. A well-investigated approach has been focusing on generating ex vivo manipulated DCs. Autologous DCs are generated from patients, either from CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes or CD34<sup>+</sup> hematopoietic precursors and stimulated with TAs and maturation stimuli, after which they are transferred back into patients. However, this approach is both time consuming and expensive [91]. An alternative method could be to target DCs in vivo. DCs express a wide range of surface markers, and combining antibodies targeted towards DCs with Ags and/or maturation stimuli could elicit the activation of the DCs in vivo [145]. The type of DCs, which will gain access to the targeted therapy, is dependent on the choice of administration route, which can include intradermal (i.d.), subcutaneous (s.c.), intravenous (i.v.) and intraperitoneal (i.m.) delivery [146]. It is therefore important to consider the route of administration when choosing a vaccination strategy. However, it is not yet clear which administration route is the most optimal for DC targeting, and it could also be highly dependent on the specific reagent administrated.

Choosing an optimal DC target for vaccine applications has been intensely investigated and several targeting candidates have been suggested. A large group of these targets are part of the C-type lectin receptor (CLR) family. They all contain carbohydrate recognition domains, enabling them to bind to various oligosaccharides of self and non-self-origin [147]. DEC-205 and the Mannose Receptor are both part of the type I CLR family [147]. Murine DEC-205 is expressed primarily by DCs of the mature kind, but are also found on B cells and in low expression on T cells and granulocytes [148, 149]. In humans, DEC-205 expression is high on myeloid blood DCs and monocytes, moderate on B cells and low on NK cells, granulocytes and T cells [150]. It has been shown that targeting Ags to DEC-205 in combination with anti-CD40 adjuvant elicits Ag specific T cell responses [151]. The Mannose Receptor is found primarily on macrophages, but have also been identified on iDCs and moDCs [85, 152, 153]. Targeting Ags to the Mannose Receptor results in Ag presentation on MHC-I and II molecules, initiating CD8 and CD4 T cell responses [154]. Also, included in the group of CLRs are the type II DC-specific ICAM 3-grabbing nonintegrin (DC-SIGN) and Clec9A. DC-SIGN is expressed on macrophages and iDCs and, as the name implies, it is a strong binder of ICAM 3, which mediates the binding of DCs to T cells, suggesting its involvement in T cell activation [155, 156]. However, murine DC-SIGN seems functionally unrelated to human DC-SIGN, making preclinical testing of this molecule as a vaccine target challenging [157]. Clec9A is expressed by cDC1s and pDCs in mice, and in humans it is primarily expressed by cDC1s, but also in low amounts on B cells and a subset of monocytes [158-160]. Using Clec9A as a target for Ag delivery enriches antibody (Ab) responses and enhances CD4 and CD8 T cell responses [160]. Other targets considered in vaccine applications are the widely DC expressed molecules XCR1 and CD11c. XCR1 is expressed specifically on murine and human cDC1s [161, 162]. It is a chemokine receptor and its ligand XCL1 can be secreted by cells including NK cells and T cells, which will ensure the attraction of DCs to inflammatory areas [163]. CD11c is expressed by all subsets of murine DCs and all human DCs, except pDCs, and only low expression is found on LCs [164]. It forms a heterodimer with CD18, CD11c/CD18 (or  $\alpha X\beta 2$ ), forming the complement receptor 4, which is a leukocyte integrin with a binding affinity for iC3b [165]. Targeting Ags to CD11c induces robust CD4 and CD8 T cell responses [166].

To generate a specific immune response against tumor cells, DCs need to meet antigens associated to or specific for the given tumor. Antigens can be delivered to DCs as short or long peptides, proteins or as whole tumor cells, and the immune response generated is dependent on the antigen epitopes available for T cell presentation [90]. In view of clinical translation, choosing the right antigen for vaccine formulations is of high importance. Antigens from tumor cells can be either tumor associated antigens or neoantigens. Tumor associated antigens (TAAs) are antigens, which are overly expressed by tumor cells, expressed only on germline cells or unexpressed in adult tissue, whereas neoantigens are tumor cell specific antigens (TSAs) generated due to tumor cell mutations [167]. TAAs are often expressed by several patients, making it easier to identify antigens that can be used in vaccine formulations. However, since TAAs are not tumor specific, it is possible that the patient will have generated a tolerance against the specific Ags. As the name implies, TSAs are tumor cell specific, but they are also often patient specific, meaning that
making a vaccine will be reliant on the screening of specific Ags from each patient [167]. Choosing the right antigen for vaccine formulations is therefore a large area of research. When generating vaccines for pre-clinical testing of target molecules, most commonly a model antigen, e.g. OVA, is incorporated in the vaccine.

To modulate and improve DC targeted vaccination, inclusion of an adjuvant is a necessity. The purpose of an adjuvant is to introduce proper DC maturation to avoid generation of tolerance, and in cancer treatment, to polarize the immune response in a Th1 direction [168]. Today, most vaccines use aluminum salts as adjuvant, which tends to induce Th2-skewed immune responses [169]. The search for adjuvants more prone to induce Th1 responses is a big part of the research on vaccine development against cancer. Currently, many of the candidates are TLR agonists, including CpG and Poly(I:C). CpG-oligonucleotides are bacterial CpG DNA, a PAMP binding to TLR9, which have been shown to induce DC maturation by increasing their expression of co-stimulatory molecules and IL-12 secretion [170]. Poly(I:C) is a synthetic dsRNA, a TLR3 agonist, and similar to CpG DNA, it induces DC maturation and Th1-skewed immune responses [171, 172]. DCs have also been shown to upregulate MHC- and co-stimulatory molecules when exposed to CD40 agonists, which could therefore also be valuable as vaccine adjuvant [173].

Several groups have investigated how targeting DCs *in vivo* can be used as anti-cancer therapy, applying different targets, antigens, adjuvants and administration routes (**Table 1**). These studies all point towards the conclusion, that utilizing DCs in this new *in vivo* vaccination setting is a valid approach for immunotherapy against cancer.

Target	Type and Outcome	Reference
LOX1	Anti-LOX1 Ab coupled to OVA Ag combined with Freund's	[174]
	adjuvant. S.c. administration inhibited EG.7-OVA tumor growth.	
DEC-205	Anti-DEC-205 Ab coupled to OVA Ag administrated s.c. with anti-	[151]
	CD40 as adjuvant, inhibited MO4 tumor growth in therapeutic	
	and prophylactic settings.	
	Anti-DEC-205 Ab coupled to TRP2 Ag administrated s.c. with CpG	[175]
	as adjuvant, reduced the growth of established s.c. B16 tumors.	
	Immunization with anti-DEC-205-TRP2 + CpG, inhibited growth	
	of lung metastatic B16 tumors.	
	ScFv-anti-DEC-205 coupled to gp100 Ag administrated s.c. with	[176]
	CpG+poly(I:C) as adjuvant, inhibited growth of established s.c.	
	B16F10 and RET tumors.	
	Immunization with i.p. administrated anti-DEC-205 coupled to	[177]
	HER2 Ag with poly(I:C) + anti-CD40 as adjuvants, delayed NT2.5	
	tumor growth and increased survival.	
CD11c	ScFv anti-CD11c coupled to HER2 Ag administrated s.c. with CpG	[178]
	as adjuvant, protected against D2F2/E2 tumor development and	
	inhibited D2F2/E2 tumor growth in prophylactic and therapeutic	
	settings, respectively.	
	Immunization with i.m. administrated DNA vaccine ScFv-anti-	[179]
	CD11c coupled to HER2 Ag prevented s.c. D2F2/E2 tumor	

Table 1. Overview of pre-clinical studies targeting dendritic cells in vivo for anti-cancer therapy.

	development. Therapeutic vaccination in combination with low-	
	dose cyclophosphamide (Induce Treg depletion) treatment,	
	inhibited tumor growth and increased survival.	
Mannose	hMR Tg mice immunized i.p. with anti-hMR Ab coupled to OVA	[180]
Receptor	Ag with CpG adjuvant, inhibited MO-4 tumor growth.	
DC-SIGN	KLH adjuvant coupled to humanized anti-DC-SIGN Ab	[181]
	administrated s.c. in combination with hPBMCs, inhibited RAJI	
	tumor growth.	
Clec9A	S.c. administrated anti-Clec9A coupled to SIINFEKL antigen (OVA	[182]
	Ag MHC-I restricted epitope) with CD40 as adjuvant, reduced	
	development of B16-OVA-GFP lung metastasis tumors, in	
	prophylactic and therapeutic settings.	
	Anti-Clec9A coupled to MUC1 HLA-A2 epitope Ag (MUC1-A2)	[183]
	with anti-CD40 and poly(I:C) as adjuvant administrated s.c.,	
	inhibited growth of s.c. MC38-MUC1-A2 tumors, in prophylactic	
	and therapeutic settings.	
CD36	Immunization with s.c. administrated scFv-anti-CD36 coupled to	[184]
	OVA Ag, inhibited EG7-OVA tumor growth.	
MHC-II	Mutated SMEZ-2 (bacterial superantigen with MHC-II binding	[185]
	capacity) coupled to OVA Ag administrated i.v. with $\alpha$ -GalCer as	
	adjuvant, delayed established s.c. B16-OVA tumor growth.	
Bst2	Mice immunized i.p. with an anti-Bst2 Ab (pDCs specific	[186]
	targeting) coupled to OVA Ag in combination with poly(I:C) as	
	adjuvant, showed delayed tumor growth and increased survival	
	in s.c. B16-OVA tumor model.	
XCR1	Different immunization regimes with DNA vaccination of mXcl1	[187]
	(XCR1 ligand) coupled to Ag GPC3, obstructed development and	
	growth of i.p. administrated Diethylnitrosamine (DEN) induced	
	liver tumors in mice.	
	Prophylactic and therapeutic i.d. vaccination with DNA vaccine	[188]
	XCL1 coupled to OVA Ag slowed B16-OVA tumor growth.	

#### **1.4.2. STING ACTIVATION AND IMMUNOTHERAPY**

STING is an essential initiator of IFN-I production, and STING agonists have been investigated as adjuvant in cancer therapy. The flavonoid compound, 5,6dimethylxanthenone-4-acetic acid (DMXAA), is a direct agonist of murine STING (mSTING), but it does not bind to human STING (hSTING) [189-191]. It has antitumor activity in murine tumor models, where activation of NK cells and macrophages, priming of T cells and induction of tumor rejection is observed and found to be STING dependent [192, 193], proving that the use of direct STING agonists could be a new addition to cancer therapeutics. Based on this, using the known hSTING agonist 2'3'-cGAMP for the same purpose has been tested and proved to reduce tumor load in combination with radiotherapy [194]. However, 2'3'cGAMP and other CDNs are sensitive to enzymatic degradation and hold low membrane diffusion capacities due to their anionic nature [195]. A synthetic form of cGAMP has been developed to try and circumvent these issues. By altering the structure of phosphate linkages and substituting oxygen atoms with sulfur atoms, this synthetic form of cGAMP, ML RR-S2 CDA (Named: ADU-S100), is more resistant to enzymatic degradation and has enhanced binding to hSTING. Furthermore, it enhances expression of STING associated cytokines, e.g. IFN- $\beta$ , IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , and has increased anti-tumor efficacy after intratumoral (i.t.) injection in murine tumor models [193]. The proof of an advantage of direct STING agonists as anti-tumor therapy has sprung a new line of therapeutic attempts utilizing CDNs. A whole-cell vaccine, made of irradiated GM-CSF secreting tumor cells (Named: STINGVAX), applied ADU-S100 as adjuvant, and proved to have enhanced anti-tumor efficacy [196]. Other therapeutic approaches investigate the use of CDNs, in combination with different carrier systems, ranging from liposomal carriers [197-200] and other types of micro/nanoparticle carrier systems [201-205], to incorporation in hydrogels and biopolymers [206, 207], and the development of new direct STING agonists [208-210] (**Table 2**). Having the ability to either work alone, as adjuvant in vaccines or in combination with other types of immunotherapy, e.g. check point inhibitors or radioand chemotherapy, the generation of STING stimulating agents will likely be an important addition in the immunological fight against cancer.

Name	Type and Outcome	Reference
2'3'-cGAMP	Natural direct STING agonist.	[194]
	I.t. administrated of 2'3'-cGAMP in combination with	
	radiotherapy, reduced tumor load in established s.c. MC38	
	tumors.	
DMXAA	Direct STING agonist	[193, 211]
	5,6-dimethylxanthenone-4-acetic acid (DMXAA).	
	I.t. administration of DMXAA in established s.c. B16.SIY tumors	
	led to tumor regression. I.v. administration prolonged survival	
	of mice with established C1498.SIY ALM tumors.	
ADU-S100	Direct STING agonist, ML RR-S2 CDA, synthetic 2'3'-cGAMP.	[193]
	I.t. administration reduced tumor growth and improved overall	
	survival in established s.c. B16F10 tumors.	
STINGVAX	Lethally irradiated GM-CSF-expressing tumor cells mixed with	[196]
	ADU-S100.	
	Contralateral administration of STINGVAX in combination with	
	anti-PD-L1, reduced tumor load in established s.c. B16 tumors	
	and induced complete tumor regression in established s.c. CT26	
	tumors.	
NP-cdGMP	Liposomal nanoparticle carrier containing cyclic di-GMP.	[197]
	Enhanced uptake of CDN in lymph nodes. S.c. administration in	
	combination with antigen peptide vaccination, reduced tumor	
	development and prolonged survival in established s.c. EG.7-	
	OVA and B16 tumors.	
c-di-GMP/	Liposomal nanoparticle carrier containing cyclic di-GMP.	[198, 199]
YSK05	Immunization with s.c. administration in combination with OVA	
	Ag vaccination, prohibited development of s.c. EG.7-OVA	
	tumors. I.v. administration inhibited tumor growth in B16F10	
	lung metastatic melanoma tumors.	
PEG Liposomal	PEGylated liposome carrier containing 2'3'-cGAMP.	[200]
cGAMP		

Table 2. Overview of pre-clinically tested STING activating anti-cancer therapy

	I.v. administration in combination with anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-	
	1, reduced tumor size in B16F10 lung metastatic melanoma	
	tumors.	
CAR T cell/	Biopolymer containing CAR T Cells and cyclic-di-GMP.	[206]
STING agonist	Biopolymer complex implanted onto the tumor surface of	
Implant	orthotopic pancreatic KPC tumors, induced tumor regression	
	and increased survival. Implanted into resection site of	
	surgically removed B16F10 tumors, delayed tumor relapse.	
PC7A NP	Synthetic polymeric nanoparticle. Direct STING activator.	[208, 209]
	S.c. administration reduced tumor growth in established B16-	
	OVA, B16F10, MC38 and TC-1 tumors and increased survival in	
	B16-OVA and TC-1 tumor models. In combination with	
	radiotherapy, eradication and prevention of relapse were	
	observed in TC-1 and B16-OVA tumors, and survival was	
	increased.	
STINGel	Hydrogel containing ADU-S100.	[207]
	S.c. administration decreased MOC2-E6E7 tumor growth and	
	increased survival.	
cGAMP-NP	Nanopartical containing 3'3'-cGAMP.	[201]
	I.v. administration reduced tumor growth and prolonged	
	survival in established orthotopic C3(1)Tag and B16F10 tumors.	
diABZI	Linked amidobenzimidazole. Direct STING agonist.	[210]
	I.v. administration inhibited tumor growth of established CT26	
	tumors and prolonged survival.	
Ace-DEX	Acid-sensitive acetalated dextran microparticle containing 3'3'-	[204]
cGAMP MP	cGAMP.	
	I.t. administration inhibited B16F10 tumor growth and	
	prolonged survival.	
STING-NP	Polymer nanoparticle carrier containing 2'3'-cGAMP.	[205]
	I.t. and i.v. administration +/- combination with anti-CTLA-4 and	
	anti-PD1, inhibited established B16F10 tumor growth,	
	prolonged survival and enhanced protection against tumor	
	recurrence.	

## **CHAPTER 2. OBJECTIVES**

The overall aim of this thesis was to find new approaches to target and enhance activation of the STING pathway, and to evaluate if these approaches could be applied as anti-cancer immunotherapy. This was done through two main studies.

**Study I:** The first study investigated whether a dendritic cell-targeted adjuvant could lead to a STING-dependent cell activation and function as immunotherapy.

This was investigated through the study described in *Manuscript I (Appendix I)* and supported by a focused research review described in *Review I (Appendix II)*.

The research questions were:

- Can dsDNA, delivered to the cytoplasm of dendritic cells, induce maturation?
- Can CD11c be used as a target for delivery of dsDNA to dendritic cells?
- Can dendritic cells, matured with dsDNA, activate T cells?
- Can the human monocytic cell line THP-1 be used as a DC maturation model?
- Is dsDNA induced THP-1-DC maturation dependent on STING and cGAS?

**Study II:** The second study investigated whether cholesterol depletion, induced by a variety of cholesterol inhibitors, e.g. Filipin-III, M $\beta$ CD and Nystatin, could prime STING activity and function as anti-cancer therapy.

This was investigated in the study described in Manuscript II (Appendix III).

The research questions were:

- Can cGAMP be used to activate human and murine macrophages and dendritic cells?
- Can cholesterol depletion prime cGAMP induced STING activation?
- Do membrane cholesterol levels influence the activity and localization of STING?
- Can cholesterol depletion be applied as anti-cancer therapy?

#### ACTIVATING THE STING PATHWAY

## CHAPTER 3. RESULTS

The main findings from the studies are summarized here. Detailed results are described in the manuscripts (*Manuscript I, Review I and Manuscript II, Appendix I-III*).

### 3.1. STUDY I

Boosting the effect of tumor specific T cell responses in cancer patients has proven to be an interesting approach for anti-cancer treatment. Activation of DCs *in situ* may aid the generation of tumor specific T cell responses. dsDNA has been shown to be able to activate DCs *in vivo* [133]. dsDNA interacts with the cytosolic DNA sensor cGAS and leads to the activation of the STING pathway, which promotes IFN-I gene transcription [131, 134]. IFN-I production is important for immune responses against viral infections, and its importance in anti-tumor immune responses is becoming increasingly evident. Targeting DCs with a strong maturational stimulus to enhance their activation, and hence their ability to activate tumor specific T cells, could potentially be a way to improve the efficacy of immunotherapy, which is currently applied as cancer treatment.

We investigated how moDCs and THP-1 cells would respond to the delivery of targeted and untargeted dsDNA. We delivered dsDNA to moDCs using the transfection reagent lipofectamine and observed that dsDNA was delivered to the cell cytoplasm, which increased DC maturation. Similarly, targeting dsDNA to CD11c led to the internalization of the dsDNA and induced DC maturation. DCs matured with dsDNA had the ability to increase T cell proliferation in a multiple leukocyte reaction. THP-1 cells cultured with GM-CSF, IL-4 and ionomycin induced the generation of DC-like cells. We applied THP-1 cells as a model for DC maturation and observed that expression of maturation markers was increased upon delivery of dsDNA. Further, we observed that maturation induced by dsDNA was abolished in cGAS and STING KO cells (*Manuscript I, Appendix I*) [212].

Collectively, these results and results previously done in our group, investigating DC targeting *in vivo*, are summarized in *Review I* (*Appendix II*) [213] and based on this, we believe that targeting dsDNA to DCs via CD11c could potentially be applied as immunotherapy against cancer by activating DCs in a STING dependent manner.

### 3.1. STUDY II

IFN-I is emerging as an important player in anti-cancer immune responses. Therefore, developing therapy targeting the STING pathway, which leads to enhancement of IFN-I production, is of high interest. STING can be directly activated by CDNs including 2'3'-cGAMP, which is the product generated upon the activation of cGAS after the recognition of cytosolic DNA.

We investigated whether cGAMP could induce the activation of human and murine DCs and macrophages in vitro. The cells were stimulated with cGAMP alone or in combination with transfection reagent lipofectamine. We observed that high concentrations of cGAMP alone was able to induce maturation of both human and murine DCs, and in combination with lipofectamine, low concentrations of cGAMP also activated human and murine macrophages. We discovered that pre-treatment of human and murine DCs and macrophages, with cholesterol inhibitor Filipin-III, primed cells to respond to lower concentrations of cGAMP, and thus increased their activation. To confirm that these observations were in fact due to the cholesterol inhibition, and not other adverse effects induced by Filipin-III treatment, we utilized another cholesterol depletion reagent, MBCD, and observed that this reagent also primed DC maturation and activation of macrophages, in response to cGAMP. We observed that Filipin-III and MBCD priming was dependent on enhanced activation of the STING pathway, in which phosphorylated STING and TBK-1 was upregulated. Addition of cholesterol to THP-1 cells retained STING in the ER and completely abolished phosphorylation of STING and TBK1, confirming that cholesterol levels are a key regulator of STING activity. In a murine tumor model, i.t. treatment with MBCD in established tumors inhibited tumor growth as long as treatment was maintained. Lastly, we tested the clinically relevant cholesterol depletion reagent Nystatin as pre-treatment before cGAMP stimulation and saw that this reagent also enhanced DC maturation, compared to cGAMP treatment alone (Manuscript II, Appendix III).

Collectively, these results show that cGAMP-induced activation of DCs and macrophages can be enhanced by pre-treatment with several different cholesterol depleting or blocking reagents, and that this activation is dependent on increased activation of the STING pathway. The depletion of cholesterol increases STING sequestering from the ER and provides protection against tumor growth in a murine tumor model. We suggest that application of Nystatin or other clinically approved cholesterol inhibitors will aid the immunological treatment of cancers via the enhancement of STING pathway activation (*Manuscript II, Appendix III*).

## **CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION**

#### 4.1. METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

The first part of the discussion will be on methodological considerations. Special weight will be put on the model systems, applied to evaluate DC biology in experimental settings. Included is a discussion on the use, and choice, of the murine tumor model used in experiments. A closer look will be taken on the therapeutic strategies applied in the studies.

#### 4.1.1. MONOCYTE-DERIVED DENDRITIC CELLS

DCs only constitute approximately 0.2 % of peripheral blood leukocytes and approximately 2 % of mononuclear blood cells in healthy adults [214]. This makes it challenging to obtain high numbers of cells in experimental settings to study DC biology. Protocols have been developed to generate DCs in vitro from peripheral blood CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes or CD34<sup>+</sup> hematopoietic stem cells [215]. CD34<sup>+</sup> cells can be isolated from bone marrow, cord blood or peripheral blood and be induced to differentiate into DCs during 12-14 days in cultures containing GM-CSF and TNFa [216-219]. These protocols generate CD1a<sup>+</sup> DCs, which also express MHC-II, CD80, CD86, CD83 and CD40, and have the ability to stimulate T cells. However, the number of DCs generated from these cultures are typically low, 10-40 % [216-219]. The low accessibility to obtain cells, particularly from bone marrow and cord blood, together with the low DC numbers, makes it preferable to use other protocols for DC generation. In our studies (Manuscript I and II, Appendix I and III) [212], we applied moDCs generated from CD14<sup>+</sup> blood monocytes, based on the protocol described by Sallusto et al. [71]. This protocol which is extensively used for *in vitro* DC generation, utilizes CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes derived from peripheral blood, cultured for 6-7 days in GM-CSF and IL-4. This protocol generates a homogenous population of CD1a<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup>DCs, with low expression of MHC-II, CD80/86 and CD83, resembling iDCs and with a yield of up to 90 % [71, 220, 221]. Maturation can be induced upon addition of LPS or TNFa, leading to upregulation of MHC-I and II, CD80, CD86, and CD83 and an increase in T cell stimulatory capabilities [71, 220, 221]. This method is very usable for in vitro studies of DCs biology, specifically for studying DC maturation, due to the relatively high availability of blood monocytes. In addition, it has been shown in mouse tumor models, that the effect of anti-tumor therapy and proper CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation is dependent on the presence of moDCs [222, 223]. Therefore, using moDCs in *in vitro* experiments provides a very useful and clinically relevant method for studying DC maturation and to test therapy targeting DCs.

#### 4.1.2. BONE MARROW-DERIVED DENDRITIC CELLS

In mice, it is also challenging to isolate high numbers of DCs directly from blood, and the most common way to obtain large numbers of DCs is to generate them from precursors of the bone marrow compartment. As described by Inaba et al. [224], it is possible to generate large DC numbers by cultivating bone marrow cells with GM-CSF. A modified protocol also includes IL-4 in the cultures [225]. Independent of the protocol, the cells that are generated express MHC-II, CD80 and CD86. However, the addition of IL-4 induces cells to have a higher expression of these markers compared to cells cultured with GM-CSF alone, and they also have a higher ability to stimulate T cells [225]. A third approach to generate BMDCs applies Flt3L to induce differentiation [226]. In our study (Manuscript II, Appendix III), we generated BMDCs in IL-4 and GM-CSF cultures. Although compared to BMDCs differentiated with GM-CSF only, these cells show a more mature baseline, addition of maturation stimuli, e.g. TNFa, LPS or CpG, enhance cell maturation, confirming their use as a model for maturation [227]. Generating BMDCs with Flt3L produces a heterogeneous cell population containing pDC-, CD8<sup>+</sup> cDC- and CD8<sup>-</sup> cDC equivalents, while BMDCs generated with IL-4 and GM-CSF gives a more homogeneous cell population of myeloid CD11b<sup>high</sup> cells [228]. IL-4 and GM-CSF generated BMDCs show superior ability to stimulate T cells, compared to Ftl3L generated BMDCs, and they resemble inflammatory DCs, hence moDCs [227, 228]. Application of BMDCs as vaccination, in a murine tumor model, shows that IL-4 and GM-CSF generated BMDCs provide superior protection compared to Flt3L generated BMDCs, an observation that could be explained by the Th2-skewed T cell responses induced by Flt3L generated BMDCs [227]. IL-4 and GM-CSF generated BMDCs are therefore a good model for maturation studies as well as for investigations of anti-tumor therapy, and results from experiments using IL-4 and GM-CSF BMDCs should be comparable to results obtained using our model for the generation of human moDCs (Manuscript I and II, Appendix I and III) [212].

#### 4.1.3. THP-1 MATURATION MODEL

In order to investigate the involvement of STING and cGAS in DC maturation, we used a model based on the human monocytic THP-1 cell line (*Manuscript I, Appendix I*) [212]. The main advantage of applying a cell line model for these studies was that we could generate stable gene knock out of cGAS and STING, using CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing technology. By using a cell line model, it is easy to obtain large amounts of cells, and furthermore the cell homogeneity is high, while donor-to-donor variability is avoided, resulting in more reproducible results [229].

The THP-1 cell line was derived from the blood of a boy with acute monocytic leukemia and established as a leukemic cell line characterized with monocytic properties having immunological functions [230]. THP-1 cells cultured with Phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetat (PMA) generate cells resembling macrophages derived from

peripheral monocytes, and this model has been extensively used to study the biology of macrophages [231]. We therefore applied this model to investigate macrophage activation in study II (*Manuscript II, Appendix III*). Using the THP-1 cell line as a model to study DC biology is less well investigated. However, studies have indicated that it is possible to use THP-1 cells to generate cells resembling moDCs. Berges and colleagues [229] applied GM-CSF and IL-4 to induce differentiation of THP-1 monocytes into an immature-like DC, having high endocytic activity. Culturing of the immature-like DCs for 3 days in GM-CSF, IL-4, TNF $\alpha$  and ionomycin, induced them to differentiate into a mature-like DC, shown by decreased endocytic activity, upregulation of HLA-DR and co-stimulatory molecules, which increased the ability to activate T cells [229]. Inspired by this, we generated a protocol where we cultured THP-1 monocytes in IL-4, GM-CSF, ionomycin as well as dsDNA, and saw that we could generate a mature DC-like phenotype (**Figure 4**). The cells expressed maturation markers CD86 and HLA-DR as well as the DC specific marker DC-SIGN, and contained high levels of IL-12 mRNA (*Manuscript I, Appendix I*) [212].



**Figure 4.** THP-1 cell line models. Monocytic leukemia THP-1 cells (THP-1 Monocytes) cultured in medium supplemented with IL-4, GM-CSF and Ionomycin for 3 days differentiate into immature DC-like cells (THP-1 iDC). Addition of maturation stimuli induced cells to differentiate into mature DC-like cells (THP-1 mDC). THP-1 monocytes differentiated into macrophage-like cells (THP-1 Macrophage) in the presence of PMA.

Berges et al. [229] also showed that the myelogenous leukemia CD34<sup>+</sup> cell line KG-1 had potential to develop into DC-like cells, and this has been supported by other studies [232, 233]. CD1a is a marker used to identify human myeloid DCs with capacity to polarize a Th1 response and produce high levels of IL-12 [234]. A disadvantage with THP-1 and the KG-1 DC models are that the number of CD1a<sup>+</sup> DCs is rather low [235]. The MUTZ-3 cells, a CD34<sup>+</sup> acute myeloid leukemia cell line, are an immortal equivalent to CD34<sup>+</sup> DC progenitors and can, similar to THP-1 and KG-1 cells, differentiate into DCs upon culture in GM-CSF, IL-4 and TNFα [235]. Applying this model generates higher numbers of CD1a<sup>+</sup> DCs, and this model is being increasingly used to study DC biology, specifically since the cells generated have been shown to resemble *in vitro* generated moDCs [236]. Although MUTZ-3 cells are becoming a highly validated model for CD34<sup>+</sup> derived DCs, yielding quite high numbers of CD1a<sup>+</sup> DC-like cells, we showed in our studies that THP-1 cells could also serve as a model for DC maturation [212]. The THP-1 cell line is, different from KG-1 and MUTZ-3 cells, a cell line with monocytic origin, and is able to differentiate into both DC- and macrophage-like cells, making this model very useable for our studies, where we study both of these cell types (*Manuscript I and II*, *Appendix I and III*) [212].

#### 4.1.4. MURINE TUMOR MODELS

Testing immunotherapy in vitro gives a good indication of how specific cells, e.g. DCs, will respond to the therapy. However, to evaluate how therapy will function in an in vivo system and making results translational before clinical testing, it is necessary to test efficacy in murine tumor models, and a variety of different models have been developed for this purpose. The choice of a model is usually built on an estimation of the advantages and disadvantages associated with the user-friendliness of the model and an estimation of how translatable the results will be. In our study (Manuscript II, Appendix III), we applied the MC38 syngeneic tumor model. The clear advantage of this type of model is that it is easy to use and highly reproducible, but unfortunately, it lacks the heterogeneity seen in human cancers [237]. A variety of synergetic tumor models exists and there is a high diversity in the way they respond to immunotherapy [238, 239]. The MC38 tumor model has been shown to be highly immunogenic and when combinational treatment, including immunotherapy with anti-PD-L1, is applied, significant tumor reduction is seen, while this is not the case when the same treatment is applied in non-immunogenic tumor models [239]. This difference in response to immunotherapy seen in the mice models highlights the importance of determining whether tumors in patients are immunogenic or nonimmunogenic, in order to better predict if the treatment will have an effect. Using immunotherapy for cancer treatment will likely function best when applied for treatment of immunogenic tumors. Testing immunotherapy in immunogenic tumor models, e.g. MC38, as we did in our study (Manuscript II, Appendix III), is likely the best way to evaluate the efficacy of this type of treatment. However, applying a combination of immunotherapy, targeting several parts of the TME and the immune system, could potentially turn non-immunogenic tumors into immunogenic tumors. We evaluated the efficacy of the treatment by following tumor growth in the mice. Including analysis of the TME before and after treatment, to investigate the amount of infiltrating T cells, might aid to evaluate the effect of the treatment.

#### **4.1.5. THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES**

In our study (Manuscript I, Appendix I) [212], we wanted to investigate if DNA could be used to induce DC maturation, with the goal of applying this as a therapeutic strategy for cancer treatment. DNA is a DAMP, which can be released from dying cells or originate from pathogens, and activate the STING pathway via the cytosolic DNA sensor cGAS. Extracellular DNA, derived from tumor cells, can enter the cytoplasm of APCs in vivo, through a yet unknown mechanism [133]. We saw in our study that uptake of pure DNA by DCs was limited (Manuscript I, Appendix I) [212]. The reason for the low uptake of extracellular DNA is due to a high rate of enzymatic degradation and the net negative charge of DNA, which limits its access through the negatively charged cell membrane [240, 241]. Lipofectamine is a reagent, which form complexes with DNA and enhances its entry into cells via cationic lipids [241, 242]. We chose to apply lipofectamine to deliver DNA to DCs and THP-1 cells (Manuscript I, Appendix I) [212]. We observed that lipofectamine was able to mediate the delivery of DNA to cells. However, we also observed enhanced maturation of lipofectamine only treated cells (Manuscript I, Appendix I) [212]. The increased maturation of DCs upon lipofectamine treatment could be due to the cell perceiving the membrane disruption as a danger signal [243].

We have previously shown in our group [244, 245], that CD11c functions as a target for antigen delivery to DCs *in vivo* (*Results summarized and discussed in Review I, Appendix II*)[213], and based on this, we wanted to investigate if this receptor could also be used to deliver DNA to DCs (*Manuscript I, Appendix I*) [212]. We applied a conjugation strategy, using succinimidyl 4-formylbenzoate (4SFB) and succinimidyl 6-hydrazinonicotinate acetone hydrazine (Hy-Nic) modifications of DNA and Ab, respectively, leading to covalent binding of Ab and DNA, and generation of the Ab-DNA construct (**figure 5**) [246]. This method resulted in high amounts of Ab-DNA conjugates, binding one or two DNA molecules per Ab, which could be internalized by cells, confirming that the Ab did not lose function after conjugation (*Manuscript I, Appendix I*) [212]. Whether the Ab gets conjugated with one or two DNA molecules does not affect Ab function. Constructs generated with the described conjugation technique are stable for long periods under physiological conditions [246]. This validates this method as an excellent way to generate Ab-DNA conjugates, which can be used in a variety of biological assays.



**Figure 5.** Conjugation of anti-CD11c antibody and dsDNA. dsDNA 5'-Cy5 labeled and modified with a 3'amine group was coupled to succinimidyl 4-formylbenzoate (S-4FB) and anti-CD11c antibody was coupled to succinimidyl 6-hydrazinonicotinate acetone hydrazine (S-HyNic), generating the conjugation via a covalent linkage.

Similar to DNA, cGAMP is vastly hydrolyzed in the extracellular compartment and has low membrane diffusion capabilities due to its anionic nature [195]. Therefore, we applied lipofectamine to deliver cGAMP to cells *in vitro* (*Manuscript II, Appendix III*). This approach resembles methods used in *in vivo* studies applying liposomal carrier systems for delivery of cGAMP [197-200]. However, when applying these carrier systems for cGAMP delivery *in vivo*, extensive preparation is necessary. In cell membranes cholesterol functions as a central lipid, and depletion of cholesterol can be used to study membrane permeability and cellular trafficking [247, 248]. Therefore, manipulating the cell membrane's content of cholesterol might be a way to enhance entry of cGAMP and modulate cellular trafficking, which could influence STING activation. In our study (*Manuscript II, Appendix III*), we investigated how cholesterol depletion effected cellular responses to cGAMP.

Filipin-III is a polyene macrolide antibiotic, which forms complexes with sterols in aqueous solutions and forms aggregates in lipid membranes [249, 250]. It also has an affinity for phospholipids and causes membrane instability, without affecting membrane resistance [251, 252]. The effects Filipin-III has on cellular membranes makes it cytotoxic, and it is therefore not used for clinical applications. However, due to its fluorescent properties, it is often used as a fluorescent probe for cholesterol staining [249]. It is a highly validated method to apply Filipin-III for cholesterol inhibition in membranes and in our study (*Manuscript II, Appendix III*), we therefore used Filipin-III to make a prove-of-concept. However, it is likely that Filipin-III treatment is associated with adverse effects, and we therefore tested another well-known cholesterol depletion reagent, M $\beta$ CD, to confirm that our observations were due to depletion of cholesterol and not to side effects induced by Filipin-III (*Manuscript II, Appendix III*). Cyclodextrins are cyclic oligosaccharide, and the addition of methyl groups increases the reagents solubility [248]. Cholesterol

depletion mediated by MBCD occurs because MBCD forms a cone, in which cholesterol is complexed into the central cavity, in a MßCD:Cholesterol 2:1 complex [253]. Applying MBCD for cholesterol depletion induced results similar to what was observed when applying Filipin-III, confirming that the results were due to cholesterol inhibition (Manuscript II, Appendix III). An advantage of using MBCD is that it can be applied for *in vivo* studies, which we also utilized in our study (Manuscript II, Appendix III). However, MBCD is not approved for clinical use, so we wanted to find a cholesterol depletion reagent which was clinically approved to confirm our results and make them translatable. Amphotericin β and Nystatin are both, similar to Filipin-III, included in the family of polyene macrolide antibiotics, but are approved for clinical use to treat fungal infections [249, 250]. Amphotericin ß and Nystatin interact with sterols. However, Nystatin has low association with cholesterol compared to both Filipin-III and Amphotericin  $\beta$ , and due to the lower association with cholesterol, Nystatin induces less damage to cell membranes [250]. This made Nystatin the preferable clinically relevant reagent to use in our studies (Manuscript II, Appendix III). In addition, Nystatin does not affect membrane stability, but reduces membrane resistance and enhances anion permeability. These are features which will likely enhance cGAMP entry to cells without inducing toxicity [252].

### 4.2. GENERAL DISCUSSION

DC, IFN-I and hence, the STING pathway, are all vital components of innate immunity, and strong innate immunity is associated with better adaptive anti-tumor immunity [254]. For this reason, utilizing immunotherapeutic approaches to enhance DC- and STING pathway activity and promote IFN-I production could be a beneficial addition to current treatment options. The second part of the discussion will be focusing on DC targeting as well as DC maturation and activation of the STING pathway in view of what is learned from our studies.

#### 4.2.1. TARGETING DENDRITIC CELLS

Targeting DCs directly *in situ* with Ags with and without adjuvants serves as an interesting approach for immunotherapy against cancer and has been shown to promote anti-tumor responses in several pre-clinical studies (**Table 1**). Considerations of the choice of target, which stimuli should be delivered and whether combination with other treatment options should be applied, are important to find the most optimal way to activate DCs with this approach. In our study (*Manuscript I, Appendix I*), we chose to target a maturation stimulus, dsDNA, to DCs via CD11c, and analyzed how this affected DC maturation [212]. The choice of target was based on considerations summarized and discussed in *Review I* (*Appendix II*) [213]. We found that CD11c would be an interesting target, based on previous studies made in our group, where several DC surface molecules were screened, in order to evaluate their prospective as targets for Ag delivery (*Review I, Appendix II*) [213, 245]. Our previous results showed that targeting Ags to CD11c induced high numbers of IFN- $\gamma$  producing T cells

and robust Ab responses (*Review I, Appendix II*) [213, 244, 245]. The benefits of using CD11c as a target have been confirmed in other studies, showing that targeting Ags to CD11c enhance T cell responses [166]. In mice, CD11c is considered a highly DC specific target, while in humans it is expressed substantially on DCs, but is also expressed on other immune cells [164]. The expression pattern of CD11c in mice makes it an interesting target due to its high DC specificity. However, it is not necessarily a disadvantage that human expression of CD11c is seen on a broader range of immune cells, including macrophages and monocytes, since activation of a broader spectrum of immune cells might enhance anti-tumor responses induced by targeted immunotherapy.

Vaccination targeting DCs to introduce anti-tumor responses should contain an adjuvant, which introduces DC maturation, to promote immunogenicity and activation of cytotoxic T cells, rather than promoting tolerance [145]. DAMPs and PAMPs are recognized by PRRs, including TLRs, RLRs, NLRs, CLRs, ALRs and cytosolic DNA sensors, expressed by DCs, and recognition of DAMPs and PAMPs lead to DC maturation [88]. In the 1890's William B. Coley, demonstrated that the delivery of bacterial products, which contains TLR agonists, to cancer patients, promoted innate immune responses and induced tumor regression [254]. Imiquimod and Resiquimod are TLR7 agonists, approved for topical treatment, which can increase pDC maturation and IFN-I production, and Imiquimod has been shown to skew immune responses towards a Th1 direction [255, 256]. Treatment with Imiquimod in a cutaneous breast cancer model is associated with increased infiltration of CD11c<sup>+</sup>, CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> cells in tumors as well as a significant inhibition of tumor growth. Furthermore, the effect of Imiquimod treatment is enhanced by combining it with radio- or chemotherapy [257]. Similarly, it has been shown that combinational treatment with a TLR3-specific adjuvant, which promotes IFN-I production, and anti-PD-L1, induce Th1-directed immunity in tumors and increase CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell- and DC populations [258]. Additionally, topical treatment with Imiguimod has proved to be safe and beneficial for combinational treatment in breast cancer patients [259]. This highlights the benefits of applying strong adjuvants as anti-cancer treatment to promote IFN-I production and DC maturation, leading to enhanced T cell activation, and the CD11c targeted DNA generated in our study (Manuscript I, Appendix I)[212], functions as an adjuvant, holding these properties. In addition, we observed that the increased DC maturation was dependent on activation of the STING pathway (Manuscript I, Appendix I) [212]. Targeting DNA to DCs to enhance maturation and increase their ability to promote tumor specific T cell responses may be a new approach to induce immunological clearance of tumor cells (Review I, Appendix II) [213], and finding ways to increase activity of the STING pathway might aid the process further.

#### 4.2.2. PRIMING THE STING PATHWAY

DCs are able to initiate adaptive immune responses and are important for the generation of anti-tumor immunity. Activation of the STING pathway leads to enhanced IFN-I production and it has been proved through a variety of studies that STING agonists can lead to inhibition of tumor growth and prolong survival (**Table 2**). Furthermore, IFN-I increases DC maturation, migration and their ability to activate T cells [260].

In our studies, we applied two different approaches to activate the STING pathway. In *Study I*, we activated DCs by delivering DNA via CD11c (*Manuscript I, Review I, Appendix I-II*) [212]. Several cytosolic DNA sensors have been identified, including DAI, DDX41, AIM2 and IFI16 [261, 262]. However, knock out of DAI and IFI16 in several different cell types does not alter IFN-I production in response to DNA, proving that these DNA sensors are not essential for IFN-I production [263, 264]. Contrary to this, knock out of cGAS makes both pDCs and cDCs from mice unable to produce IFN-I and severely lowers IFN-I production *in vivo* in viral infection studies [265]. We found that cGAS and STING were necessary for DNA induced DC maturation (*Manuscript I, Appendix I*)[212], supporting the evidence that cGAS and STING activation are particularly important for DC activation in response to DNA.

In Study II we used the direct STING agonist, cGAMP, and found that cGAMP could induce activation of DCs and macrophages (Manuscript II, Appendix III). cGAMP has the ability to slightly inhibit tumor growth when applied i.t. in murine tumor models [266]. However, the limited anti-tumor effects of pure cGAMP lead to an interest in finding approaches to enhance cGAMP delivery and function. We found that the depletion of cholesterol from cell membranes enhanced activation of DCs and macrophages in response to cGAMP, and that this was associated with enhanced activation of the STING pathway (Manuscript II, Appendix III). Low cholesterol levels are associated with increased membrane permeability, increased defense against viral infections, enhanced IFN-I production and increased attraction of T cells to inflammatory sites [252, 267, 268]. We observed that i.t. injection of cholesterol depletion reagent, MBCD, inhibited tumor growth in mice (Manuscript II, Appendix III). Both DNA and cGAMP can be released from tumor cells into the TME [269, 270]. Cholesterol depletion may aid cGAMP, and likely also DNA, to enter cells, including DCs. We also found that cholesterol depletion enhanced STING sequestering from the ER (Manuscript II, Appendix III). Collectively, these results show that cholesterol depletion increases the activation of the STING pathway in response to cGAMP and this promotes DCs to enhance adaptive immune responses.

The benefits of targeting and increasing the activity of the STING pathway to enhance anti-tumor responses is quite convincing. However, a few studies have observed some downsides of enhanced STING activity in tumor settings. In HPV-induced sarcomas, STING is found to be active in tumor cells, but in this type of cancer, activated STING promotes IL-10, IDO and CCL22 induction and increases infiltration of Tregs, indicating promotion of a tolerogenic TME [271]. The induction of IDO associated with increased STING activity has also been observed in a Lewis lung carcinoma model, in which treatment with STING agonists induced tumor growth [272]. However, these features induced by activated STING was not observed in the B16 melanoma model [272]. These studies aid to the knowledge that activity of the STING pathway in cancer is very complex and might hold both beneficial and unbeneficial properties, dependent on the type of cancer. The downsides of overactivation of STING have also been established in autoimmune disease. SAVI (STING associated vasculopathy with onset in infancy), is an autoimmune disease, causing inflammation of the skin, blood vessels and lungs, and it is caused by a gain-of-function mutation of TMEM173, the gene encoding STING [273]. It is therefore important to balance the activity of the STING pathway, so that anti-tumor responses are promoted, and autoimmunity is avoided. Furthermore, it should be considered which types of cancer would benefit from treatment enhancing STING pathway activation.

Our studies suggest two different approaches to stimulate the STING pathway. Namely, by targeting a strong maturation stimulus, DNA, directly to DCs, or by enhancing the cellular response to cGAMP stimuli via a depletion of membrane cholesterol (Manuscript I and II, Appendix I and III) [212]. This increased activation of the STING pathway leads to enhanced IFN-I production, which has multiple beneficial impacts on immune responses against cancer. Since the immunological elimination of cancer contains multiple steps, as described in the cancer immunity cycle, targeting several steps in this cycle might enhance the efficacy of anti-tumor immunotherapy [9]. While checkpoint blockade therapy can help lift the restrain put on T cells in the TME, enhanced IFN-I production can increase T cell proliferation, their ability to induce tumor killing, and the generation of T memory cells [112-114]. Furthermore, IFN-I can enhance DC migration, maturation and cross presentation, and hence their ability to present TAs to T cells and induce T cell mediated tumor rejection [115-120]. The therapeutic approaches, described in Study I and II (Manuscript I, Review I and Manuscript II, Appendix I-III) [212, 213], targeting the STING pathway, which leads to DC maturation and enhanced IFN-I production, may therefore become a new addition to immunotherapy against cancer (figure 6).



**Figure 6.** Activating the STING pathway as a strategy for anti-tumor immunotherapy. CD11c-targeted DNA and cGAMP can be delivered to DCs and induce activation of the STING pathway. DCs may also take in DNA and cGAMP released from tumor cells. Additional treatment with cholesterol inhibitors will further enhance STING activation, by enhancing STING release from the ER. STING activation leads to increased release of IFN-I, which increases DC maturation, cross presentation, and Ag presentation to T cells, and promotes Th1 differentiation. Furthermore, T cell proliferation is increased, and with combinational treatment with checkpoint inhibitors, this may lead to increased inflammation in the TME and enhanced tumor killing. Abbreviations: **cGAS:** cyclic GMP-AMP synthase. **cGAMP:** cyclic GMP-AMP. **STING:** Stimulator of Interferon Genes. **ER:** endoplasmic reticulum. **ERGIC:** ER Golgi Intermediate Compartment. **DC:** Dendritic cell. **T:** T cell.

#### ACTIVATING THE STING PATHWAY

# CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

In the studies presented here, we found that the activation of DCs was possible by targeting DNA to CD11c and that this activation was dependent on STING and cGAS. cGAMP in combination with cholesterol depletion reagents is also able to activate immune cells in a STING-dependent manner, and the application of cholesterol inhibitors induce inhibition of tumor growth. These approaches, which activate the STING pathway, will therefore likely hold potential as applications for immunotherapy against cancer (*Manuscript I, Review I and Manuscript II, Appendix I-III*) [212, 213].

The STING pathway is highly important for IFN-I production and aids to link innate and adaptive immunity. It is becoming increasingly clear that the activity of the STING pathway can be manipulated via a variety of approaches, leading to formation of immune responses beneficial for anti-tumor immunity. However, the full complexity of this pathway still needs to be revealed. Studies mapping the pathway further, to gain a better understanding of how the activation and degradation of STING is regulated, will aid to the understanding of how it would be optimal to target the pathway with immunotherapy.

To prove that targeted DNA could be applied for cancer treatment, the Ab-DNA construct we generated in our study (*Manuscript I, Appendix I*) [212] should be tested in *in vivo* settings to see if this will be able to reduce tumor development and growth. Confirmation of the benefits of applying cholesterol depletion to reduce tumor growth should be made by applying a clinically relevant cholesterol inhibitor, e.g. Nystatin, as treatment in a tumor model. Applying the therapeutic strategies presented here may also be used in combination with other immune regulating treatment options for cancer, such as checkpoint blockade therapy, and it would be interesting to test if combinational treatment would enhance protection against tumors. Developing treatment options, which can decrease STING activity, may be useful for applications against autoimmune diseases. Investigation on how STING activity can be decreased could heighten our understanding of how manipulating the STING pathway affects the immune system in different diseases as well as how this can be utilized for development of new immunotherapeutic approaches.

#### ACTIVATING THE STING PATHWAY

## REFERENCES

1. Wei, S. C., Duffy, C. R., Allison, J. P. (2018) Fundamental Mechanisms of Immune Checkpoint Blockade Therapy. *Cancer Discovery*. **8**, 1069-1086.

2. Hanahan, D., Weinberg, R. (2000) Hallmarks of Cancer. Cell. 100, 57-70.

3. Hanahan, D., Weinberg, R. (2011) Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. *Cell.* 144, 646-674.

4. Dunn, G. P., Old, L. J., Schreiber, R. D. (2004) The Immunobiology of Cancer Immunosurveillance and Immunoediting. *Immunity*. **21**, 137-148.

5. Burnet, M. (1957) Cancer - A Biological Approach. I. The Processes of Control. *British medical journal*. **1**, 779-786.

6. Carsiotis, M. (1960) Cellular and Humoral Aspects of the Hypersensitive States. A Symposium Held at the New York Academy of Medicine. H. Sherwood Lawrence. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*. **35**, 355.

7. Burnet, F. M. (1970) The concept of immunological surveillance. *Progress in experimental tumor research.* **13**, 1.

8. Dunn, G. P., Bruce, A. T., Ikeda, H., Old, L. J., Schreiber, R. D. (2002) Cancer immunoediting - from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. *Nature*. **3**, 991-998.

9. Chen, D. S., Mellman, I. (2013) Oncology Meets Immunology: The Cancer-Immunity Cycle. *Immunity*. **39**, 1-10.

10. Smyth, M. J., Thia, K. Y., Street, S. E., Cretney, E., Trapani, J. A., Taniguchi, M., Kawano, T., Pelikan, S. B., Crowe, N. Y., Godfrey, D. I. (2000) Differential Tumor Surveillance by Natural Killer (Nk) and Nkt Cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. **191**, 661-668.

11. Smyth, M. J., Crowe, N. Y., Godfrey, D. I. (2001) NK cells and NKT cells collaborate in host protection from methylcholanthrene-induced fibrosarcoma. *International immunology*. **13**, 459-463.

12. van den Broek, M E, Kägi, D., Ossendorp, F., Toes, R., Vamvakas, S., Lutz, W. K., Melief, C. J., Zinkernagel, R. M., Hengartner, H. (1996) Decreased tumor surveillance in perforin-deficient mice. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. **184**, 1781-1790.

13. Girardi, M., Oppenheim, D. E., Steele, C. R., Lewis, J. M., Glusac, E., Filler, R., Hobby, P., Sutton, B., Tigelaar, R. E., Hayday, A. C. (2001) Regulation of Cutaneous Malignancy by gamma delta T Cells. *Science*. **294**, 605-609.

14. Gao, Y., Yang, W., Pan, M., Scully, E., Girardi, M., Augenlicht, L. H., Craft, J., Yin, Z. (2003)  $\gamma\delta$  T Cells Provide an Early Source of Interferon  $\gamma$  in Tumor Immunity. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. **198**, 433-442.

15. Daniel H. Kaplan, Vijay Shankaran, Anand S. Dighe, Elisabeth Stockert, Michel Aguet, Lloyd J. Old, Robert D. Schreiber. (1998) Demonstration of an interferon  $\gamma$ -dependent tumor surveillance system in immunocompetent mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.* **95**, 7556-7561.

16. Dunn, G. P., Bruce, A. T., Sheehan, K. C. F., Shankaran, V., Uppaluri, R., Bui, J. D., Diamond, M. S., Koebel, C. M., Arthur, C., White J Micheal, Schreiber, R. D. (2005) A critical function for type I interferons in cancer immunoediting. *Nature Immunology*. **6**, 722-729.

17. Kim, R., Emi, M., Tanabe, K. (2007) Cancer immunoediting from immune surveillance to immune escape. *Immunology*. **121**, 1-14.

18. Shinkai, Y., Rathbun, O., Lam, K., Oltz, E. M., Stewart, V., Mendelsohn, M., Charron, J., Datta, M., Young, F., Stall, A. M., Alt, F. W. (1992) RAG-2-deficient mice lack mature lymphocytes owing to inability to initiate V(D)J rearrangement. *Cell.* **68**, 855-867.

19. Shankaran, V., Ikeda, H., Bruce, A. T., White, J., Swanson, P. E., Old, L. J., Schreiber, R. D. (2001) IFNg and lymphocytes prevent primary tumour development and shape tumour immunogenicity. *Nature*. **410**, 1107-1111.

20. Sherene Loi, Nicolas Sirtaine, Fanny Piette, Roberto Salgado, Giuseppe Viale, Françoise Van Eenoo, Ghizlane Rouas, Prudence Francis, John P.A. Crown, Erika Hitre, Evandro de Azambuja, Emmanuel Quinaux, Angelo Di Leo, Stefan Michiels, Martine J. Piccart, Christos Sotiriou. (2013) Prognostic and Predictive Value of Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes in a Phase III Randomized Adjuvant Breast Cancer Trial in Node-Positive Breast Cancer Comparing the Addition of Docetaxel to Doxorubicin With Doxorubicin-Based Chemotherapy: BIG 02-98. *Journal of Clinical Oncology.* **31**, 860-867.

21. Gabrilivich, D. I., Ishida, T., Nadaf, S., Ohm, J. E., Carbone, D. P. (1999) Antibodies to vascular endothelial growth factor enhance the efficacy of cancer immunotherapy by improving endogenous dendritic cell function. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research.* **5**, 2963-2970.

22. Uyttenhove, C., Pilotte, L., Théate, I., Stroobant, V., Colau, D., Parmentier, N., Boon, T., Van den Eynde, Benoît J. (2003) Evidence for a tumoral immune resistance mechanism based on tryptophan degradation by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. *Nature Medicine*. **9**, 1269-1274.

23. Groh, V., Wu, J., Yee, C., Spies, T. (2002) Tumour-derived soluble MIC ligands impair expression of NKG2D and T-cell activation. *Nature*. **419**, 734-738.

24. Dong, H., Strome, S. E., Salomao, D. R., Tamura, H., Hirano, F., Flies, D. B., Roche, P. C., Lu, J., Zhu, G., Tamada, K., Lennon, V. A., Celis, E., Chen, L. (2002) Tumor-associated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: A potential mechanism of immune evasion. *Nature Medicine*. **8**, 793-800.

25. Vesely, M. D., Kershaw, M. H., Schreiber, R. D., Smyth, M. J. (2011) Natural Innate and Adaptive Immunity to Cancer. *Annual Review of Immunology*. **29**, 235-271.

26. Li, H., Han, Y., Guo, Q., Zhang, M., Cao, X. (2009) Cancer-Expanded Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Induce Anergy of NK Cells through Membrane-Bound TGF-β1. *The Journal of Immunology*. **182**, 240-249.

27. Huang, B., Pan, P., Li, Q., Sato, A. I., Levy, D. E., Bromberg, J., Divino, C. M., Chen, S. (2006) Gr-1+CD115+ Immature Myeloid Suppressor Cells Mediate the Development of Tumor-Induced T Regulatory Cells and T-Cell Anergy in Tumor-Bearing Host. *Cancer Research*. **66**, 1123-1131.

28. Leach, D. R., Krummel, M. F., Allison, J. P. (1996) Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade. *Science (Washington)*. **271**, 1734.

29. Ishida, Y., Agata, Y., Shibahara, K., Honjo, T. (1992) Induced expression of PD-1, a novel member of the immunoglobulin gene superfamily, upon programmed cell death. *The EMBO Journal*. **11**, 3887-3895.

30. Freeman, G. J., Long, A. J., Iwai, Y., Bourque, K., Chernova, T., Nishimura, H., Fitz, L. J., Malenkovich, N., Okazaki, T., Byrne, M. C., Horton, H. F., Fouser, L., Carter, L., Ling, V., Bowman, M. R., Carreno, B. M., Collins, M., Wood, C. R., Honjo, T. (2000) Engagement of the Pd-1 Immunoinhibitory Receptor by a Novel B7 Family Member Leads to Negative Regulation of Lymphocyte Activation. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. **192**, 1027-1034.

31. Steinman, R. M., Cohn, Z. A. (1973) IDENTIFICATION OF A NOVEL CELL TYPE IN PERIPHERAL LYMPHOID ORGANS OF MICE: I. MORPHOLOGY, QUANTITATION, TISSUE DISTRIBUTION. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. **137**, 1142-1162.

32. van Furth, R., Cohn, Z. A., Hirsch, J. G., Humphrey, J. H., Spector, W. G., Langevoort, H. L. (1972) The mononuclear phagocyte system: a new classification of macrophages, monocytes, and their precursor cells. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization.* **46**, 845-852.

33. Auffray, C., Sieweke, M. H., Geissmann, F. (2009) Blood Monocytes: Development, Heterogeneity, and Relationship with Dendritic Cells. *Annual Review of Immunology*. **27**, 669-692.

34. Collin, M., Bigley, V. (2018) Human dendritic cell subsets: an update. *Immunology*. **154**, 3-20.

35. Guilliams, M., Ginhoux, F., Jakubzick, C., Naik, S. H., Onai, N., Schraml, B. U., Segura, E., Tussiwand, R., Yona, S. (2014) Dendritic cells, monocytes and macrophages: a unified nomenclature based on ontogeny. *Nature reviews*. *Immunology*. **14**, 571-578.

36. Merad, M., Sathe, P., Helft, J., Miller, J., Mortha, A. (2013) The Dendritic Cell Lineage: Ontogeny and Function of Dendritic Cells and Their Subsets in the Steady State and the Inflamed Setting. *Annual Review of Immunology*. **31**, 563-604.

37. Dutertre, C., Wang, L., Ginhoux, F. (2014) Aligning bona fide dendritic cell populations across species. *Cellular Immunology*. **291**, 3-10.

38. Fogg, D. K., Sibon, C., Miled, C., Jung, S., Aucouturier, P., Littman, D. R., Cumano, A., Geissmann, F. (2006) A Clonogenic Bone Marrow Progenitor Specific for Macrophages and Dendritic Cells. *Science*. **311**, 83-87.

39. Lee, J., Breton, G., Oliveira, T. Y. K., Zhou, Y. J., Aljoufi, A., Puhr, S., Cameron, M. J., Sékaly, R., Nussenzweig, M. C., Liu, K. (2015) Restricted dendritic cell and monocyte progenitors in human cord blood and bone marrow. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. **212**, 385-399.

40. Naik, S. H., Sathe, P., Park, H., Metcalf, D., Proietto, A. I., Dakic, A., Carotta, S., O'Keeffe, M., Bahlo, M., Papenfuss, A., Kwak, J., Wu, L., Shortman, K. (2007) Development of plasmacytoid and conventional dendritic cell subtypes from single precursor cells derived in vitro and in vivo. *Nature immunology*. **8**, 1217-1226.

41. Onai, N., Obata-Onai, A., Schmid, M. A., Ohteki, T., Jarrossay, D., Manz, M. G. (2007) Identification of clonogenic common Flt3+M-CSFR+ plasmacytoid and conventional dendritic cell progenitors in mouse bone marrow. *Nature immunology*. **8**, 1207-1216.

42. Liu, K., Victora, G. D., Schwickert, T. A., Guermonprez, P., Meredith, M. M., Yao, K., Chu, F., Randolph, G. J., Rudensky, A. Y., Nussenzweig, M. (2009) In Vivo Analysis of Dendritic Cell Development and Homeostasis. *Science*. **324**, 392-397.

43. Naik, S. H., Metcalf, D., van Nieuwenhuijze, A., Wicks, I., Wu, L., O'Keeffe, M., Shortman, K. (2006) Intrasplenic steady-state dendritic cell precursors that are distinct from monocytes. *Nature Immunology*. **7**, 663-671.

44. Hettinger, J., Richards, D. M., Hansson, J., Barra, M. M., Joschko, A., Krijgsveld, J., Feuerer, M. (2013) Origin of monocytes and macrophages in a committed progenitor. *Nature Immunology*. **14**, 30.

45. Ginhoux, F., Liu, K., Helft, J., Bogunovic, M., Greter, M., Hashimoto, D., Price, J., Yin, N., Bromberg, J., Lira, S. A., Stanley, E. R., Nussenzweig, M., Merad, M. (2009) The origin and development of nonlymphoid tissue CD103+DCs. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. **206**, 3115-3130.

46. Vremec, D., Zorbas, M., Scollay, R., Saunders, D. J., Ardavin, C. F., Wu, L., Shortman, K. (1992) The surface phenotype of dendritic cells purified from mouse thymus and spleen: Investigation of the CD8 expression by a subpopulation of dendritic cells. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. **176**, 47-58.

47. Edelson, B. T., KC, W., Juang, R., Kohyama, M., Benoit, L. A., Klekotka, P. A., Moon, C., Albring, J. C., Ise, W., Michael, D. G., Bhattacharya, D., Stappenbeck, T. S., Holtzman, M. J., Sung, S. J., Murphy, T. L., Hildner, K., Murphy, K. M. (2010) Peripheral CD103+dendritic cells form a unified subset developmentally related to CD8 $\alpha$ +conventional dendritic cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. **207**, 823-836.

48. Dorner, M. B., Dorner, B. G., Zhou, X., Opitz, C., Mora, A., Güttler, S., Hutloff, A., Mages, H. W., Ranke, K., Schaefer, M., Jack, R. S., Henn, V., Kroczek, R. A. (2009) Selective Expression of the Chemokine Receptor XCR1 on Cross-presenting Dendritic Cells Determines Cooperation with CD8 + T Cells. *Immunity*. **31**, 823-833.

49. Tamura, T., Tailor, P., Yamaoka, K., Kong, H. J., Tsujimura, H., O'Shea, J. J., Singh, H., Ozato, K. (2005) IFN Regulatory Factor-4 and -8 Govern Dendritic Cell Subset Development and Their Functional Diversity. *The Journal of Immunology*. **174**, 2573-2581.

50. Hacker, C., Kirsch, R. D., Ju, X., Hieronymus, T., Gust, T. C., Kuhl, C., Jorgas, T., Kurz, S. M., Rose-John, S., Yokota, Y., Zenke, M. (2003) Transcriptional profiling identifies Id2 function in dendritic cell development. *Nature Immunology*. **4**, 380-386.

51. Kusunoki, T., Sugai, M., Katakai, T., Omatsu, Y., Iyoda, T., Inaba, K., Nakahata, T., Shimizu, A., Yokota, Y. (2003) TH2 dominance and defective development of a CD8+ dendritic cell subset in Id2-deficient mice. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. **111**, 136-142.

52. Hildner, K., Edelson, B. T., Purtha, W. E., Diamond, M., Matsushita, H., Kohyama, M., Calderon, B., Schraml, B. U., Unanue, E. R., Diamond, M. S., Schreiber, R. D., Murphy, T. L., Murphy, K. M. (2008) Batf3 Deficiency Reveals a Critical Role for CD8{alpha}+ Dendritic Cells in Cytotoxic T Cell Immunity. *Science*. **322**, 1097-1100.

53. Waskow, C., Liu, K., Darrasse-Jèze, G., Guermonprez, P., Ginhoux, F., Merad, M., Shengelia, T., Yao, K., Nussenzweig, M. (2008) FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 is required for dendritic cell development in peripheral lymphoid tissues. *Nature immunology*. **9**, 676-683.

54. Maraskovsky, E., Brasel, K., Teepe, M., Roux, E. R., Lyman, S. D., Shortman, K., McKenna, H. J. (1996) Dramatic increase in the numbers of functionally mature dendritic cells in Flt3 ligand-treated mice: multiple dendritic cell subpopulations identified. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. **184**, 1953-1962.

55. Jongbloed, S. L., Kassianos, A. J., McDonald, K. J., Clark, G. J., Ju, X., Angel, C. E., Chen, C. J., Dunbar, P. R., Wadley, R. B., Jeet, V., Vulink, A. J. E., Hart, D. N. J., Radford, K. J. (2010) Human CD141+(BDCA-3)+dendritic cells (DCs) represent a unique myeloid DC subset that cross-presents necrotic cell antigens. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. **207**, 1247-1260.

56. Bogunovic, M., Ginhoux, F., Helft, J., Shang, L., Hashimoto, D., Greter, M., Liu, K., Jakubzick, C., Ingersoll, M. A., Leboeuf, M., Stanley, E. R., Nussenzweig, M., Lira, S. A., Randolph, G. J., Merad, M. (2009) Origin of the Lamina Propria Dendritic Cell Network. *Immunity*. **31**, 513-525.

57. Kabashima, K., Banks, T. A., Ansel, K. M., Lu, T. T., Ware, C. F., Cyster, J. G. (2005) Intrinsic Lymphotoxin- $\beta$  Receptor Requirement for Homeostasis of Lymphoid Tissue Dendritic Cells. *Immunity.* **22**, 439-450.

58. Lewis, K., Caton, M., Bogunovic, M., Greter, M., Grajkowska, L., Ng, D., Klinakis, A., Charo, I., Jung, S., Gommerman, J., Ivanov, I., Liu, K., Merad, M., Reizis, B. (2011) Notch2 Receptor Signaling Controls Functional Differentiation of Dendritic Cells in the Spleen and Intestine. *Immunity*. **35**, 780-791.

59. Wu, L., D'amico, A., Winkel, K. D., Suter, M., Lo, D., Shortman, K. (1998) RelB Is Essential for the Development of Myeloid-Related CD8α– Dendritic Cells but Not of Lymphoid-Related CD8α+ Dendritic Cells. *Immunity*. **9**, 839-847. 60. Shoichi Suzuki, Kiri Honma, Toshifumi Matsuyama, Kazuo Suzuki, Kan Toriyama, Ichinose Akitoyo, Kazuo Yamamoto, Takashi Suematsu, Michio Nakamura, Katsuyuki Yui, Atsushi Kumatori. (2004) Critical roles of interferon regulatory factor 4 in CD11bhighCD8 $\alpha$ - dendritic cell development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. **101**, 8981-8986.

61. Dzionek, A., Fuchs, A., Schmidt, P., Cremer, S., Zysk, M., Miltenyi, S., Buck, D. W., Schmitz, J. (2000) BDCA-2, BDCA-3, and BDCA-4: Three Markers for Distinct Subsets of Dendritic Cells in Human Peripheral Blood. *The Journal of Immunology*. **165**, 6037-6046.

62. Robbins, S. H., Walzer, T., Dembélé, D., Thibault, C., Defays, A., Bessou, G., Xu, H., Vivier, E., Sellars, M., Pierre, P., Sharp, F. R., Chan, S., Kastner, P., Dalod, M. (2008) Novel insights into the relationships between dendritic cell subsets in human and mouse revealed by genome-wide expression profiling. *Genome biology*. **9**, R17.

63. Cella, M., Jarrossay, D., Facchetti, F., Alebardi, O., Nakajima, H., Lanzavecchia, A., Colonna, M. (1999) Plasmacytoid monocytes migrate to inflamed lymph nodes and produce large amounts of type I interferon. *Nature Medicine*. **5**, 919-923.

64. Siegal, F. P., Kadowaki, N., Shodell, M., Fitzgerald-Bocarsly, P. A., Shah, K., Ho, S., Antonenko, S., Liu, Y. (1999) The Nature of the Principal Type 1 Interferon-Producing Cells in Human Blood. *Science*. **284**, 1835-1837.

65. Asselin-Paturel, C., O'Garra, A., Brière, F., Dezutter-Dambuyant, C., Yessaad, N., Trinchieri, G., Biron, C., Durand, I., Dalod, M., Boonstra, A., Vicari, A. (2001) Mouse type I IFN-producing cells are immature APCs with plasmacytoid morphology. *Nature Immunology*. **2**, 1144-1150.

66. Björck, P. (2001) Isolation and characterization of plasmacytoid dendritic cells from Flt3 ligand and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor-treated mice. *Blood.* **98**, 3520-3526.

67. Cisse, B., Caton, M. L., Lehner, M., Maeda, T., Scheu, S., Locksley, R., Holmberg, D., Zweier, C., den Hollander, N. S., Kant, S. G., Holter, W., Rauch, A., Zhuang, Y., Reizis, B. (2008) Transcription Factor E2-2 Is an Essential and Specific Regulator of Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cell Development. *Cell*. **135**, 37-48.

68. Demoulin, S., Roncarati, P., Delvenne, P., Hubert, P. (2012) Production of large numbers of plasmacytoid dendritic cells with functional activities from CD34+ hematopoietic progenitor cells: Use of interleukin-3. *Experimental Hematology*. **40**, 268-278.

69. Randolph, G. J., Inaba, K., Robbiani, D. F., Steinman, R. M., Muller, W. A. (1999) Differentiation of Phagocytic Monocytes into Lymph Node Dendritic Cells In Vivo. *Immunity.* **11**, 753-761.

70. Tamoutounour, S., Guilliams, M., Montanana Sanchis, F., Liu, H., Terhorst, D., Malosse, C., Pollet, E., Ardouin, L., Luche, H., Sanchez, C., Dalod, M., Malissen, B., Henri, S. (2013) Origins and Functional Specialization of Macrophages and of Conventional and Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells in Mouse Skin. *Immunity.* **39**, 925-938.

71. Sallusto, F., Lanzavecchia, A. (1994) Efficient presentation of soluble antigen by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis factor alpha. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. **179**, 1109-1118.

72. Agger, R., Petersen, M. S., Toldbod, H. E., Holtz, S., Dagnaes-Hansen, F., Johnsen, B. W., Bolund, L., Hokland, M. (2000) Characterization of Murine Dendritic Cells Derived from Adherent Blood Mononuclear Cells In Vitro. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*. **52**, 138-147.

73. Schreurs, M. W. J., Eggert, A. A. O., Boer, A. J. d., Figdor, C. G., Adema, G. J. (1999) Generation and functional characterization of mouse monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *European Journal of Immunology*. **29**, 2835-2841.

74. León, B., López-Bravo, M., Ardavín, C. (2007) Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells Formed at the Infection Site Control the Induction of Protective T Helper 1 Responses against Leishmania. *Immunity*. **26**, 519-531.

75. Plantinga, M., Guilliams, M., Vanheerswynghels, M., Deswarte, K., Branco Madeira, F., Toussaint, W., Vanhoutte, L., Neyt, K., Killeen, N., Malissen, B., Hammad, H., Lambrecht, B. (2013) Conventional and monocyte-derived CD11b<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells initiate and maintain T helper 2 cell-mediated immunity to house dust mite allergen.

76. Langlet, C., Tamoutounour, S., Henri, S., Luche, H., Ardouin, L., Gregoire, C., Malissen, B., Guilliams, M. (2012) CD64 Expression Distinguishes Monocyte-Derived and Conventional Dendritic Cells and Reveals Their Distinct Role during Intramuscular Immunization. *Journal of Immunology*. **188**, 1751-1760.

77. Hammad, H., Plantinga, M., Deswarte, K., Pouliot, P., Kool, M., Willart, M., Muskens, F., Lambrecht, B. (2010) Inflammatory dendritic cells - not basophils - are necessary and sufficient for induction of Th2 immunity to inhaled house dust mite allergen. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. **207**, 2097-2111.

78. Segura, E., Touzot, M., Bohineust, A., Cappuccio, A., Chiocchia, G., Hosmalin, A., Dalod, M., Soumelis, V., Amigorena, S. (2013) Human Inflammatory Dendritic Cells Induce Th17 Cell Differentiation. *Immunity.* **38**, 336-348.

79. Novak, N., Valenta, R., Bohle, B., Laffer, S., Haberstok, J., Kraft, S., Bieber, T. (2004) FccRI engagement of Langerhans cell–like dendritic cells and inflammatory dendritic epidermal cell–like dendritic cells induces chemotactic signals and different T-cell phenotypes in vitro. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. **113**, 949-957.

80. Langerhans, P. (1868) Ueber die Nerven der menschlichen Haut. Archiv für Pathologische Anatomie und Physiologie und für Klinische Medicin. 44, 325-337.

81. Hoeffel, G., Wang, Y., Greter, M., See, P., Teo, P., Malleret, B., Leboeuf, M., Low, D., Oller, G., Almeida, F., Choy, S. H. Y., Grisotto, M., Renia, L., Conway, S. J., Stanley, E. R., Chan, J. K. Y., Ng, L. G., Samokhvalov, I. M., Merad, M., Ginhoux, F. (2012) Adult Langerhans cells derive predominantly from embryonic fetal liver monocytes with a minor contribution of yolk sac–derived macrophages. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. **209**, 1167-1181.

82. Merad, M., Ginhoux, F., Collin, M. (2008) Origin, homeostasis and function of Langerhans cells and other langerin-expressing dendritic cells. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. **8**, 935-947.

83. Merad, M., Sathe, P., Helft, J., Miller, J., Mortha, A. (2013) The Dendritic Cell Lineage: Ontogeny and Function of Dendritic Cells and Their Subsets in the Steady State and the Inflamed Setting. *Annual Review of Immunology*. **31**, 563-604.

84. Inaba, K., Inaba, M., Naito, M., Steinman, R. M. (1993) Dendritic cell progenitors phagocytose particulates, including bacillus Calmette-Guerin organisms, and sensitize mice to mycobacterial antigens in vivo. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. **178**, 479-488.

85. Sallusto, F., Cella, M., Danieli, C., Lanzavecchia, A. (1995) Dendritic cells use macropinocytosis and the mannose receptor to concentrate macromolecules in the major histocompatibility complex class II compartment: downregulation by cytokines and bacterial products. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. **182**, 389-400.

86. Janeway, J., C A. (1989) Approaching the Asymptote? Evolution and Revolution in Immunology. *Cold Spring Harbor symposia on quantitative biology*. **54 Pt 1**, 1-13.

87. Matzinger, P. (2002) The Danger Model: A Renewed Sense of Self. *Science*. **296**, 301-305.

88. Brubaker, S. W., Bonham, K. S., Zanoni, I., Kagan, J. C. (2015) Innate Immune Pattern Recognition: A Cell Biological Perspective. *Annual Review of Immunology*. **33**, 257-290.

89. Sallusto, F., Schaerli, P., Loetscher, P., Schaniel, C., Lenig, D., Mackay, C. R., Qin, S., Lanzavecchia, A. (1998) Rapid and coordinated switch in chemokine receptor expression during dendritic cell maturation. *European Journal of Immunology*. **28**, 2760-2769.

90. Sabado, R. L., Balan, S., Bhardwaj, N. (2017) Dendritic cell-based immunotherapy. *Cell Research.* 27, 74-95.

91. Constantino, J., Gomes, C., Falcão, A., Neves, B., Cruz, M. (2017) Dendritic cellbased immunotherapy: a basic review and recent advances. *Immunol Res.* 65, 798-810.

92. Joffre, O. P., Segura, E., Savina, A., Amigorena, S. (2012) Cross-presentation by dendritic cells. *Nature reviews. Immunology.* **12**, 557-569.

93. Zhu, J. (2018) T Helper Cell Differentiation, Heterogeneity, and Plasticity. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*. **10**, a030338.

94. Szabo, S. J., Kim, S. T., Costa, G. L., Zhang, X., Fathman, C. G., Glimcher, L. H. (2000) A Novel Transcription Factor, T-bet, Directs Th1 Lineage Commitment. *Cell*. **100**, 655-669.

95. Kaiko, G. E., Horvat, J. C., Beagley, K. W., Hansbro, P. M. (2008) Immunological decision-making: how does the immune system decide to mount a helper T-cell response?. *Immunology*. **123**, 326-338.

96. Zheng, W., Flavell, R. A. (1997) The Transcription Factor GATA-3 Is Necessary and Sufficient for Th2 Cytokine Gene Expression in CD4 T Cells. *Cell.* **89**, 587-596.

97. Ivanov, I. I., McKenzie, B. S., Zhou, L., Tadokoro, C. E., Lepelley, A., Lafaille, J. J., Cua, D. J., Littman, D. R. (2006) The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. *Cell*. **126**, 1121-1133.

98. Bilate, A. M., Lafaille, J. J. (2012) Induced CD4+Foxp3+ Regulatory T Cells in Immune Tolerance. *Annual Review of Immunology*. **30**, 733-758.

99. Fontenot, J. D., Gavin, M. A., Rudensky, A. Y. (2003) Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nature Immunology*. **4**, 330-336.

100. James B. Wing, Atsushi Tanaka, Shimon Sakaguchi Human FOXP3+ Regulatory T Cell Heterogeneity and Function in Autoimmunity and Cancer.

101. Crotty, S. (2011) Follicular Helper CD4 T Cells (TFH). Annual Review of Immunology. 29, 621-663.

102. Nurieva, R. I., Chung, Y., Martinez, G. J., Yang, X. O., Tanaka, S., Matskevitch, T. D., Wang, Y., Dong, C. (2009) Bcl6 Mediates the Development of T Follicular Helper Cells. *Science*. **325**, 1001-1005.

103. Yu, D., Rao, S., Tsai, L. M., Lee, S. K., He, Y., Sutcliffe, E. L., Srivastava, M., Linterman, M., Zheng, L., Simpson, N., Ellyard, J. I., Parish, I. A., Ma, C. S., Li, Q., Parish, C. R., Mackay, C. R., Vinuesa, C. G. (2009) The Transcriptional Repressor Bcl-6 Directs T Follicular Helper Cell Lineage Commitment. *Immunity*. **31**, 457-468.

104. Isaacs, A., Lindenmann, J. (1987) Virus interference. I. The interferon. By A. Isaacs and J. Lindenmann, 1957. *Journal of interferon research*. **7**, 429.

105. Medrano, R. F. V., Hunger, A., Mendonça, S. A., Barbuto, J. A. M., Strauss, B. E. (2017) Immunomodulatory and antitumor effects of type I interferons and their application in cancer therapy. *Oncotarget.* **8**, 71249-71284.

106. Müller, M., Briscoe, J., Laxton, C., Guschin, D., Ziemiecki, A., Silvennoinen, O., Harpur, A. G., Barbieri, G., Witthuhn, B. A., Schindler, C., Pellegrini, S., Wilks, A. F., Ihle, J. N., Stark, G. R., Kerr, I. M. (1993) The protein tyrosine kinase JAK1 complements defects in interferon- alpha / beta and - gamma signal transduction. *Nature*. **366**, 129-135.

107. Velazquez, L., Fellous, M., Stark, G. R., Pellegrini, S. (1992) A protein tyrosine kinase in the interferon alpha/beta signaling pathway. *Cell.* **70**, 313.

108. Leung, S., Qureshi, S. A., Kerr, I. M., Darnell, J. J., Stark, G. R. (1995) Role of STAT2 in the alpha interferon signaling pathway. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. **15**, 1312-1317.

109. Meraz, M. A., White, J. M., Sheehan, K. C. F., Bach, E. A., Rodig, S. J., Dighe, A. S., Kaplan, D. H., Riley, J. K., Greenlund, A. C., Campbell, D., Carver-Moore, K., DuBois, R. N., Clark, R., Aguet, M., Schreiber, R. D. (1996) Targeted Disruption of the Stat1 Gene in Mice Reveals Unexpected Physiologic Specificity in the JAK–STAT Signaling Pathway. *Cell.* **84**, 431-442.

110. Perry, S. T., Buck, M. D., Lada, S. M., Schindler, C., Shresta, S. (2011) STAT2 Mediates Innate Immunity to Dengue Virus in the Absence of STAT1 via the Type I Interferon Receptor. *PLoS pathogens*. **7**, e1001297. 111. Swann, J. B., Hayakawa, Y., Zerafa, N., Sheehan, K. C. F., Scott, B., Schreiber, R. D., Hertzog, P., Smyth, M. J. (2007) Type I IFN Contributes to NK Cell Homeostasis, Activation, and Antitumor Function. *The Journal of Immunology*. **178**, 7540-7549.

112. Hervas-Stubbs, S., Riezu-Boj, J., Gonzalez, I., Mancheño, U., Dubrot, J., Azpilicueta, A., Gabari, I., Palazon, A., Aranguren, A., Ruiz, J., Prieto, J., Larrea, E., Melero, I. (2010) Effects of IFN- $\alpha$  as a signal-3 cytokine on human naïve and antigenexperienced CD8+ T cells. *European Journal of Immunology*. **40**, 3389-3402.

113. Curtsinger, J. M., Valenzuela, J. O., Agarwal, P., Lins, D., Mescher, M. F. (2005) Cutting Edge: Type I IFNs Provide a Third Signal to CD8 T Cells to Stimulate Clonal Expansion and Differentiation. *The Journal of Immunology*. **174**, 4465-4469.

114. Kolumam, G. A., Thomas, S., Thompson, L. J., Sprent, J., Murali-Krishna, K. (2005) Type I interferons act directly on CD8 T cells to allow clonal expansion and memory formation in response to viral infection. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. **202**, 637-650.

115. Parlato, S., Santini, S. M., Lapenta, C., Di Pucchio, T., Logozzi, M., Spada, M., Giammarioli, A. M., Malorni, W., Fais, S., Belardelli, F. (2001) Expression of CCR-7, MIP-3 $\beta$ , and Th-1 chemokines in type I IFN-induced monocyte-derived dendritic cells: importance for the rapid acquisition of potent migratory and functional activities. *Blood.* **98**, 3022-3029.

116. Montoya, M., Schiavoni, G., Mattei, F., Gresser, I., Belardelli, F., Borrow, P., Tough, D. F. (2002) Type I interferons produced by dendritic cells promote their phenotypic and functional activation. *Blood.* **99**, 3263-3271.

117. Lattanzi, L., Rozera, C., Marescotti, D., D'Agostino, G., Santodonato, L., Cellini, S., Belardelli, F., Gavioli, R., Ferrantini, M. (2010) IFN- $\alpha$  boosts epitope crosspresentation by dendritic cells via modulation of proteasome activity. *Immunobiology*. **216**, 537-547.

118. Spadaro, F., Lapenta, C., Donati, S., Abalsamo, L., Barnaba, V., Belardelli, F., Santini, S. M., Ferrantini, M. (2012) IFN- $\alpha$  enhances cross-presentation in human dendritic cells by modulating antigen survival, endocytic routing, and processing. *Blood*. **119**, 1407-1417.

119. Fuertes, M. B., Kacha, A. K., Kline, J., Woo, S., Kranz, D. M., Murphy, K. M., Gajewski, T. F. (2011) Host type I IFN signals are required for antitumor CD8+T cell responses through CD8 $\alpha$ +dendritic cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. **208**, 2005-2016.

120. Diamond, M. S., Kinder, M., Matsushita, H., Mashayekhi, M., Dunn, G. P., Archambault, J. M., Lee, H., Arthur, C. D., White, J. M., Kalinke, U., Murphy, K. M., Schreiber, R. D. (2011) Type I interferon is selectively required by dendritic cells for immune rejection of tumors. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. **208**, 1989-2003.

121. Ishikawa, H., Barber, G. N. (2008) STING is an endoplasmic reticulum adaptor that facilitates innate immune signalling. *Nature*. **455**, 674-678.

122. Fitzgerald, K. A., McWhirter, S. M., Faia, K. L., Rowe, D. C., Latz, E., Golenbock, D. T., Coyle, A. J., Liao, S., Maniatis, T. (2003) IKKε and TBK1 are essential components of the IRF3 signaling pathway. *Nature Immunology*. **4**, 491-496.

123. Liu, S., Cai, X., Wu, J., Cong, Q., Chen, X., Li, T., Du, F., Ren, J., Wu, Y., Grishin, N. V., Chen, Z. J. (2015) Phosphorylation of innate immune adaptor proteins MAVS, STING, and TRIF induces IRF3 activation. *Science*. **347**, aaa2630.

124. Motwani, M., Pesiridis, S., Fitzgerald, K. A. (2019) DNA sensing by the cGAS-STING pathway in health and disease. *Nature reviews. Genetics.* **20**, 657-674.

125. Abe, T., Barber, G. N. (2014) Cytosolic-DNA-mediated, STING-dependent proinflammatory gene induction necessitates canonical NF-κB activation through TBK1. *Journal of virology*. **88**, 5328-5341.

126. Dobbs, N., Burnaevskiy, N., Chen, D., Gonugunta, V., Alto, N., Yan, N. (2015) STING Activation by Translocation from the ER Is Associated with Infection and Autoinflammatory Disease. *Cell Host & Microbe.* **18**, 157-168.

127. Hiller, B., Hornung, V. (2015) STING Signaling the enERGIC Way. *Cell Host & Microbe*. 18, 137-139.

128. Gonugunta, V. K., Sakai, T., Pokatayev, V., Yang, K., Wu, J., Dobbs, N., Yan, N. (2017) Trafficking-mediated STING degradation requires sorting to acidified endolysosomes and can be therapeutically targeted to enhance anti-tumor response. *Cell reports.* **21**, 3234-3242.

129. McWhirter, S. M., Barbalat, R., Monroe, K. M., Fontana, M. F., Hyodo, M., Joncker, N. T., Ishii, K. J., Akira, S., Colonna, M., Chen, Z. J., Fitzgerald, K. A., Hayakawa, Y., Vance, R. E. (2009) A host type I interferon response is induced by cytosolic sensing of the bacterial second messenger cyclic-di-GMP. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. **206**, 1899-1911.

130. Burdette, D. L., Monroe, K. M., Sotelo-Troha, K., Iwig, J. S., Eckert, B., Hyodo, M., Hayakawa, Y., Vance, R. E. (2011) STING is a direct innate immune sensor of cyclic di-GMP. *Nature*. **478**, 515-518.
131. Jiaxi Wu, Lijun Sun, Xiang Chen, Fenghe Du, Heping Shi, Chuo Chen, Zhijian J. Chen. (2013) Cyclic GMP-AMP Is an Endogenous Second Messenger in Innate Immune Signaling by Cytosolic DNA. *Science*. **339**, 826-830.

132. Woodward, J. J., Iavarone, A. T., Portnoy, D. A. (2010) c-di-AMP Secreted by Intracellular Listeria monocytogenes Activates a Host Type I Interferon Response. *Science*. **328**, 1703-1705.

133. Woo, S., Fuertes, M. B., Corrales, L., Spranger, S., Furdyna, M. J., Leung, M. Y. K., Duggan, R., Wang, Y., Barber, G. N., Fitzgerald, K. A., Alegre, M., Gajewski, T. F. (2014) STING-dependent cytosolic DNA sensing mediates innate immune recognition of immunogenic tumors. *Immunity.* **41**, 830-842.

134. Lijun Sun, Jiaxi Wu, Fenghe Du, Xiang Chen, Zhijian J. Chen. (2013) Cyclic GMP-AMP Synthase Is a Cytosolic DNA Sensor That Activates the Type I Interferon Pathway. *Science*. **339**, 786-791.

135. Li, X., Shu, C., Yi, G., Chaton, C., Shelton, C., Diao, J., Zuo, X., Kao, C. C., Herr, A., Li, P. (2013) Cyclic GMP-AMP Synthase Is Activated by Double-Stranded DNA-Induced Oligomerization. *Immunity*. **39**, 1019-1031.

136. Kranzusch, P., Lee, A., Berger, J., Doudna, J. (2013) Structure of Human cGAS Reveals a Conserved Family of Second-Messenger Enzymes in Innate Immunity. *Cell Reports.* **3**, 1362-1368.

137. Christofi, T., Baritaki, S., Falzone, L., Libra, M., Zaravinos, A. (2019) Current Perspectives in Cancer Immunotherapy. *Cancers.* **11**, 1472.

138. Topalian, S. L., Hodi, F. S., Brahmer, J. R., Gettinger, S. N., Smith, D. C., McDermott, D. F., Powderly, J. D., Carvajal, R. D., Sosman, J. A., Atkins, M. B., Leming, P. D., Spigel, D. R., Antonia, S. J., Horn, L., Drake, C. G., Pardoll, D. M., Chen, L., Sharfman, W. H., Anders, R. A., Taube, J. M., McMiller, T. L., Xu, H., Korman, A. J., Jure-Kunkel, M., Agrawal, S., McDonald, D., Kollia, G. D., Gupta, A., Wigginton, J. M., Sznol, M. (2012) Safety, Activity, and Immune Correlates of Anti–PD-1 Antibody in Cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine*. **366**, 2443-2454.

139. Heery, C. R., MD, O'Sullivan-Coyne, G., MD, Madan, R. A., MD, Cordes, L., PhD, Rajan, A., MD, Rauckhorst, M., RN, Lamping, E., RN, Oyelakin, I., RN, Marté, J. L., MD, Lepone, L. M., PhD, Donahue, R. N., PhD, Grenga, I., PhD, Cuillerot, J., MD, Neuteboom, B., PhD, Heydebreck, A. v., PhD, Chin, K., MD, Schlom, J., PhD, Gulley, J. L., Dr. (2017) Avelumab for metastatic or locally advanced previously treated solid tumours (JAVELIN Solid Tumor): a phase 1a, multicohort, dose-escalation trial. *Lancet Oncology, The.* **18**, 587-598.

140. Hodi, F. S., O'Day, S. J., McDermott, D. F., Weber, R. W., Weber, J. S., Sosman, J. A., Haanen, J. B., Gonzalez, R., Robert, C., Schadendorf, D., Hassel, J. C., Akerley, W., van den Eertwegh, Alfons J.M, Lutzky, J., Lorigan, P., Vaubel, J. M., Linette, G. P., Hogg, D., Ottensmeier, C. H., Lebbé, C., Peschel, C., Quirt, I., Clark, J. I., Wolchok, J. D., Tian, J., Yellin, M. J., Nichol, G. M., Hoos, A., Urba, W. J. (2010) Improved Survival with Ipilimumab in Patients with Metastatic Melanoma. *The New England Journal of Medicine*. **363**, 711-723.

141. Kantoff, P. W., Higano, C. S., Shore, N. D., Berger, E. R., Small, E. J., Penson, D. F., Redfern, C. H., Ferrari, A. C., Dreicer, R., Sims, R. B., Xu, Y., Frohlich, M. W., Schellhammer, P. F. (2010) Sipuleucel-T Immunotherapy for Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine*. **363**, 411-422.

142. Mocellin, S., Pasquali, S., Rossi, C. R., Nitti, D. (2010) Interferon Alpha Adjuvant Therapy in Patients With High-Risk Melanoma: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*. **102**, 493-501.

143. Rosenberg, S. A. (1994) Treatment of 283 consecutive patients with metastatic melanoma or renal cell cancer using high-dose bolus interleukin 2. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*. **271**, 907-913.

144. You, F., Jiang, L., Zhang, B., Lu, Q., Zhou, Q., Liao, X., Wu, H., Du, K., Zhu, Y., Meng, H., Gong, Z., Zong, Y., Huang, L., Lu, M., Tang, J., Li, Y., Zhai, X., Wang, X., Ye, S., Chen, D., Yuan, L., Qi, L., Yang, L. (2016) Phase 1 clinical trial demonstrated that MUC1 positive metastatic seminal vesicle cancer can be effectively eradicated by modified Anti-MUC1 chimeric antigen receptor transduced T cells. *Science China Life Sciences.* **59**, 386-397.

145. Caminschi, I., Maraskovsky, E., Heath, W. R. (2012) Targeting Dendritic Cells in vivo for Cancer Therapy. *Frontiers in immunology*. **3**, 13.

146. Tacken, P. J., Figdor, C. G. (2011) Targeted antigen delivery and activation of dendritic cells in vivo: Steps towards cost effective vaccines. *Seminars in Immunology*. **23**, 12-20.

147. Tacken, P. J., Vries, I. J. M. de, Torensma, R., Figdor, C. G. (2007) Dendriticcell immunotherapy: from ex vivo loading to in vivo targeting. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. **7**, 790-802.

148. Kraal, G., Breel, M., Janse, M., Bruin, G. (1986) Langerhans' cells, veiled cells, and interdigitating cells in the mouse recognized by a monoclonal antibody. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. **163**, 981-997.

149. Inaba, K., Swiggard, W. J., Inaba, M., Meltzer, J., Mirza, A., Sasagawa, T., Nussenzweig, M. C., Steinman, R. U. (1995) Tissue Distribution of the DEC-205 Protein That Is Detected by the Monoclonal Antibody NLDC-145: I. Expression on Dendritic Cells and Other Subsets of Mouse Leukocytes. *Cellular Immunology*. **163**, 148-156.

150. Kato, M., McDonald, K. J., Khan, S., Ross, I. L., Vuckovic, S., Chen, K., Munster, D., MacDonald, K. P. A., Hart, D. N. J. (2006) Expression of human DEC-205 (CD205) multilectin receptor on leukocytes. *International immunology*. **18**, 857-869.

151. Bonifaz, L. C., Bonnyay, D. P., Charalambous, A., Darguste, D. I., Fujii, S., Soares, H., Brimnes, M. K., Moltedo, B., Moran, T. M., Steinman, R. M. (2004) In Vivo Targeting of Antigens to Maturing Dendritic Cells via the DEC-205 Receptor Improves T Cell Vaccination. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. **199**, 815-824.

152. Keler, T., Ramakrishna, V., Fanger, M. W. (2004) Mannose receptor-targeted vaccines. *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy*. **4**, 1953-1962.

153. Kato, M., Neil, T. K., Fearnley, D. B., McLellan, A. D., Vuckovic, S., Hart, D. N. (2000) Expression of multilectin receptors and comparative FITC–dextran uptake by human dendritic cells. *International immunology*. **12**, 1511-1519.

154. Ramakrishna, V., Treml, J. F., Vitale, L., Connolly, J. E., O'Neill, T., Smith, P. A., Jones, C. L., He, L., Goldstein, J., Wallace, P. K., Keler, T., Endres, M. J. (2004) Mannose Receptor Targeting of Tumor Antigen pmel17 to Human Dendritic Cells Directs Anti-Melanoma T Cell Responses via Multiple HLA Molecules. *The Journal of Immunology*. **172**, 2845-2852.

155. Geijtenbeek, T. B. H., Torensma, R., van Vliet, S. J., van Duijnhoven, G. C. F., Adema, G. J., van Kooyk, Y., Figdor, C. G. (2000) Identification of DC-SIGN, a Novel Dendritic Cell–Specific ICAM-3 Receptor that Supports Primary Immune Responses. *Cell*. **100**, 575-585.

156. Elizabeth J. Soilleux, Lesley S. Morris, George Leslie, Jihed Chehimi, Qi Luo, Ernest Levroney, John Trowsdale, Luis J. Montaner, Robert W. Doms, Drew Weissman, Nicholas Coleman, Benhur Lee. (2002) Constitutive and induced expression of DC-SIGN on dendritic cell and macrophage subpopulations in situ and in vitro. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. **71**, 445.

157. Caminschi, I., Corbett, A. J., Zahra, C., Lahoud, M., Lucas, K. M., Sofi, M., Vremec, D., Gramberg, T., Pöhlmann, S., Curtis, J., Handman, E., van Dommelen, Serani L H, Fleming, P., Degli-Esposti, M. A., Shortman, K., Wright, M. D. (2006)

Functional comparison of mouse CIRE/mouse DC-SIGN and human DC-SIGN. *International immunology*. **18**, 741-753.

158. Poulin, L. F., Salio, M., Griessinger, E., Anjos-Afonso, F., Craciun, L., Chen, J., Keller, A. M., Joffre, O., Zelenay, S., Nye, E., Le Moine, A., Faure, F., Donckier, V., Sancho, D., Cerundolo, V., Bonnet, D., Reis e Sousa, C. (2010) Characterization of human DNGR-1+BDCA3+leukocytes as putative equivalents of mouse CD8 $\alpha$ +dendritic cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. **207**, 1261-1271.

159. Huysamen, C., Willment, J. A., Dennehy, K. M., Brown, G. D. (2008) CLEC9A Is a Novel Activation C-type Lectin-like Receptor Expressed on BDCA3+ Dendritic Cells and a Subset of MonocytesS. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*. **283**, 16693-16701.

160. Caminschi, I., Proietto, A. I., Ahmet, F., Kitsoulis, S., Shin Teh, J., Lo, J. C. Y., Rizzitelli, A., Wu, L., Vremec, D., van Dommelen, Serani L H, Campbell, I. K., Maraskovsky, E., Braley, H., Davey, G. M., Mottram, P., van de Velde, N., Jensen, K., Lew, A. M., Wright, M. D., Heath, W. R., Shortman, K., Lahoud, M. H. (2008) The dendritic cell subtype-restricted C-type lectin Clec9A is a target for vaccine enhancement. *Blood.* **112**, 3264-3273.

161. Crozat, K., Tamoutounour, S., Vu Manh, T., Fossum, E., Luche, H., Ardouin, L., Guilliams, M., Azukizawa, H., Bogen, B., Malissen, B., Henri, S., Dalod, M. (2011) Cutting edge: expression of XCR1 defines mouse lymphoid-tissue resident and migratory dendritic cells of the  $CD8\alpha$ + type. *Journal of immunology*. **187**, 4411-4415.

162. Bachem, A., Güttler, S., Hartung, E., Ebstein, F., Schaefer, M., Tannert, A., Salama, A., Movassaghi, K., Opitz, C., Mages, H. W., Henn, V., Kloetzel, P., Gurka, S., Kroczek, R. A. (2010) Superior antigen cross-presentation and XCR1 expression define human CD11c+CD141+ cells as homologues of mouse CD8+ dendritic cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. **207**, 1273-1281.

163. Kroczek, R. A., Henn, V. (2012) The Role of XCR1 and its Ligand XCL1 in Antigen Cross-Presentation by Murine and Human Dendritic Cells. *Frontiers in immunology*. **3**, 14.

164. Segura, E. (2016) Review of Mouse and Human Dendritic Cell Subsets. *Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.)*. **1423**, 3-15.

165. Bilsland, C. A. G., Diamond, M. S., Springer, T. A. (1994) The leukocyte integrin p150,95 (CD11c/CD18) as a receptor for iC3b. Activation by a heterologous beta subunit and localization of a ligand recognition site to the I domain. *The journal of immunology*. **152**, 4582-4589.

166. Castro, F. V. V., Tutt, A. L., White, A. L., Teeling, J. L., James, S., French, R. R., Glennie, M. J. (2008) CD11c provides an effective immunotarget for the generation of both CD4 and CD8 T cell responses. *European journal of immunology*. **38**, 2263-2273.

167. Hollingsworth, R. E., Jansen, K. (2019) Turning the corner on therapeutic cancer vaccines. *NPJ vaccines*. **4**, 7.

168. Saxena, M., Bhardwaj, N. (2018) Re-Emergence of Dendritic Cell Vaccines for Cancer Treatment. *Trends in Cancer.* **4**, 119-137.

169. Ho, N. I., Veld, Lisa G. M. Huis In T, Raaijmakers, T. K., Raaijmakers, T. K., Adema, G. J. (2018) Adjuvants Enhancing Cross-Presentation by Dendritic Cells: The Key to More Effective Vaccines?. *Frontiers in Immunology*.

170. Sparwasser, T., Vabulas, R., Villmow, B., Lipford, G., Wagner, H. (2000) Bacterial CpG-DNA activates dendritic cells in vivo: T helper cell-independent cytotoxic T cell responses to soluble proteins. *European Journal of Immunology*. **30**, 3591-3597.

171. Ngoi, S. M., Tovey, M. G., Vella, A. T. (2008) Targeting poly(I:C) to the TLR3independent pathway boosts effector CD8 T cell differentiation through IFNalpha/beta. *Journal of immunology*. **181**, 7670-7680.

172. Verdijk, R. M., Mutis, T., Esendam, B., Kamp, J., Melief, C. J. M., Brand, A., Goulmy, E. (1999) Polyriboinosinic polyribocytidylic acid (poly(I:C)) induces stable maturation of functionally active human dendritic cells. *Journal of Immunology*. **163**, 57-61.

173. Caux, C., Massacrier, C., Vanbervliet, B., Dubois, B., Van Kooten, C., Durand, I., Banchereau, J. (1994) Activation of human dendritic cells through CD40 crosslinking. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. **180**, 1263-1272.

174. Delneste, Y., Magistrelli, G., Gauchat, J., Haeuw, J., Aubry, J., Nakamura, K., Kawakami-Honda, N., Goetsch, L., Sawamura, T., Bonnefoy, J., Jeannin, P. (2002) Involvement of LOX-1 in Dendritic Cell-Mediated Antigen Cross-Presentation. *Immunity.* **17**, 353-362.

175. Mahnke, K., Qian, Y., Fondel, S., Brueck, J., Becker, C., Enk, A. H. (2005) Targeting of Antigens to Activated Dendritic Cells In vivo Cures Metastatic Melanoma in Mice. *Cancer Research.* **65**, 7007.

176. Theron S. Johnson, Karsten Mahnke, Volker Storn, Kurt Schönfeld, Sabine Ring, Dirk M. Nettelbeck, Hidde J. Haisma, Fabrice Le Gall, Roland E. Kontermann,

Alexander H. Enk. (2008) Inhibition of Melanoma Growth by Targeting of Antigen to Dendritic Cells via an Anti-DEC-205 Single-Chain Fragment Variable Molecule. *Clinical Cancer Research.* **14**, 8169-8177.

177. Wang, B., Zaidi, N., He, L., Zhang, L., Kuroiwa, J. M. Y., Keler, T., Steinman, R. M. (2012) Targeting of the non-mutated tumor antigen HER2/neu to mature dendritic cells induces an integrated immune response that protects against breast cancer in mice. *Breast cancer research : BCR.* **14**, R39.

178. Huafeng Wei, Suhui Wang, Dapeng Zhang, Sheng Hou, Weizhu Qian, Bohua Li, Huaizu Guo, Geng Kou, Jinqiu He, Hao Wang, Yajun Guo. (2009) Targeted Delivery of Tumor Antigens to Activated Dendritic Cells via CD11c Molecules Induces Potent Antitumor Immunity in Mice. *Clinical Cancer Research*. **15**, 4612-4621.

179. Wang, Q., Cao, W., Yang, Z., Zhao, G. (2015) DC targeting DNA vaccines induce protective and therapeutic antitumor immunity in mice. *International journal of clinical and experimental medicine*. **8**, 17565-17577.

180. He, L., Crocker, A., Lee, J., Mendoza-Ramirez, J., Wang, X., Vitale, L. A., O'Neill, T., Petromilli, C., Zhang, H., Lopez, J., Rohrer, D., Keler, T., Clynes, R. (2007) Antigenic Targeting of the Human Mannose Receptor Induces Tumor Immunity. *The Journal of Immunology*. **178**, 6259-6267.

181. Kretz-Rommel, A., Qin, F., Dakappagari, N., Torensma, R., Faas, S., Wu, D., Bowdish, K. S. (2007) In vivo targeting of antigens to human dendritic cells through DC-SIGN elicits stimulatory immune responses and inhibits tumor growth in grafted mouse models. *Journal of Immunotherapy (1997)*. **30**, 715-726.

182. Sancho, D., Mourão-Sá, D., Joffre, O. P., Schulz, O., Rogers, N. C., Pennington, D. J., Carlyle, J. R., Reis e Sousa, C. (2008) Tumor therapy in mice via antigen targeting to a novel, DC-restricted C-type lectin. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. **118**, 2098-2110.

183. Picco, G., Beatson, R., Taylor-Papadimitriou, J., Burchell, J. M. (2014) Targeting DNGR-1 (CLEC9A) with antibody/MUC1 peptide conjugates as a vaccine for carcinomas. *European Journal of Immunology*. **44**, 1947-1955.

184. Tagliani, E., Guermonprez, P., Sepulveda, J., Lopez-Bravo, M., Ardavin, C., Amigorena, S., Benvenuti, F., Burrone, O. R. (2008) Selection of an Antibody Library Identifies a Pathway to Induce Immunity by Targeting CD36 on Steady-State CD8{alpha}+ Dendritic Cells. *The Journal of Immunology*. **180**, 3201.

185. Dickgreber, N., Stoitzner, P., Bai, Y., Price, K. M., Farrand, K. J., Manning, K., Angel, C. E., Dunbar, P. R., Ronchese, F., Fraser, J. D., Backstrom, B. T., Hermans, I. F. (2009) Targeting Antigen to MHC Class II Molecules Promotes Efficient Cross-Presentation and Enhances Immunotherapy. *The Journal of Immunology*. **182**, 1260-1269.

186. Loschko, J., Schlitzer, A., Dudziak, D., Drexler, I., Sandholzer, N., Bourquin, C., Reindl, W., Krug, A. B. (2011) Antigen Delivery to Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells via BST2 Induces Protective T Cell-Mediated Immunity. *Journal of Immunology*. **186**, 6718-6725.

187. Chen, K., Wu, Z., Zhao, H., Wang, Y., Ge, Y., Wang, D., Li, Z., An, C., Liu, Y., Wang, F., Bi, X., Wang, H., Cai, J., Ma, C., Qu, C. (2020) XCL1 / Glypican-3 Fusion Gene Immunization Generates Potent Antitumor Cellular Immunity and Enhances Anti-PD-1 Efficacy. *Cancer immunology research.* **8**, 81-93.

188. Terhorst, D., Fossum, E., Baranska, A., Tamoutounour, S., Malosse, C., Garbani, M., Braun, R., Lechat, E., Crameri, R., Bogen, B., Henri, S., Malissen, B. (2015) Laser-Assisted Intradermal Delivery of Adjuvant-Free Vaccines Targeting XCR1+Dendritic Cells Induces Potent Antitumoral Responses. *Journal of immunology*. **194**, 5895-5902.

189. Conlon, J., Burdette, D. L., Sharma, S., Bhat, N., Thompson, M., Jiang, Z., Rathinam, V. A. K., Monks, B., Jin, T., Xiao, T. S., Vogel, S. N., Vance, R. E., Fitzgerald, K. A. (2013) Mouse, but not Human STING, Binds and Signals in Response to the Vascular Disrupting Agent 5,6-Dimethylxanthenone-4-Acetic Acid. *Journal of immunology*. **190**, 5216-5225.

190. Gao, P., Zillinger, T., Wang, W., Ascano, M., Dai, P., Hartmann, G., Tuschl, T., Deng, L., Barchet, W., Patel, D. (2014) Binding-Pocket and Lid-Region Substitutions Render Human STING Sensitive to the Species-Specific Drug DMXAA. *Cell Reports.* **8**, 1668-1676.

191. Kim, S., Li, L., Maliga, Z., Yin, Q., Wu, H., Mitchison, T. J. (2013) Anti-cancer flavonoids are mouse selective STING agonists. *ACS chemical biology*. **8**, 1396-1401.

192. Baguley, B. C., Ching, L. M. (1997) Immunomodulatory actions of xanthenone anticancer agents. *BioDrugs*. **8**, 119-127.

193. Corrales, L., Glickman, L., McWhirter, S., Kanne, D., Sivick, K., Katibah, G., Woo, S., Lemmens, E., Banda, T., Leong, J., Metchette, K., Dubensky, T., Gajewski, T. (2015) Direct Activation of STING in the Tumor Microenvironment Leads to Potent and Systemic Tumor Regression and Immunity. *Cell Reports.* **11**, 1018-1030.

194. Deng, L., Liang, H., Xu, M., Yang, X., Burnette, B., Arina, A., Li, X., Mauceri, H., Beckett, M., Darga, T., Huang, X., Gajewski, T., Chen, Z., Fu, Y., Weichselbaum, R. (2014) STING-Dependent Cytosolic DNA Sensing Promotes Radiation-Induced Type I Interferon-Dependent Antitumor Immunity in Immunogenic Tumors. *Immunity.* **41**, 843-852.

195. Berger, G., Marloye, M., Lawler, S. E. (2019) Pharmacological Modulation of the STING Pathway for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*. **25**, 412-427.

196. Fu, J., Kanne, D. B., Leong, M., Glickman, L. H., McWhirter, S. M., Lemmens, E., Mechette, K., Leong, J. J., Lauer, P., Liu, W., Sivick, K. E., Zeng, Q., Soares, K. C., Zheng, L., Portnoy, D. A., Woodward, J. J., Pardoll, D. M., Dubensky, J., Thomas W, Kim, Y. (2015) STING agonist formulated cancer vaccines can cure established tumors resistant to PD-1 blockade. *Science translational medicine*. **7**, 283ra52.

197. Hanson, M. C., Crespo, M. P., Abraham, W., Moynihan, K. D., Szeto, G. L., Chen, S. H., Melo, M. B., Mueller, S., Irvine, D. J. (2015) Nanoparticulate STING agonists are potent lymph node-targeted vaccine adjuvants. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. **125**, 2532-2546.

198. Miyabe, H., Hyodo, M., Nakamura, T., Sato, Y., Hayakawa, Y., Harashima, H. (2014) A new adjuvant delivery system 'cyclic di-GMP/YSK05 liposome' for cancer immunotherapy. *Journal of Controlled Release*. **184**, 20-27.

199. Nakamura, T., Miyabe, H., Hyodo, M., Sato, Y., Hayakawa, Y., Harashima, H. (2015) Liposomes loaded with a STING pathway ligand, cyclic di-GMP, enhance cancer immunotherapy against metastatic melanoma. *Journal of Controlled Release*. **216**, 149-157.

200. Koshy, S. T., Cheung, A. S., Gu, L., Graveline, A. R., Mooney, D. J. (2017) Liposomal Delivery Enhances Immune Activation by STING Agonists for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Advanced Biosystems*. **1**, 1600013-n/a.

201. Cheng, N., Watkins-Schulz, R., Junkins, R. D., David, C. N., Johnson, B. M., Montgomery, S. A., Peine, K. J., Darr, D. B., Yuan, H., McKinnon, K. P., Liu, Q., Miao, L., Huang, L., Bachelder, E. M., Ainslie, K. M., Ting, J. P. (2018) A nanoparticle-incorporated STING activator enhances antitumor immunity in PD-L1-insensitive models of triple-negative breast cancer. *JCI insight.* **3**.

202. Collier, M. A., Junkins, R. D., Gallovic, M. D., Johnson, B. M., Johnson, M. M., Macintyre, A. N., Sempowski, G. D., Bachelder, E. M., Ting, J. P. -., Ainslie, K. M. (2018) Acetalated Dextran Microparticles for Codelivery of STING and TLR7/8 Agonists. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*. **15**, 4933-4946.

203. Junkins, R. D., Gallovic, M. D., Johnson, B. M., Collier, M. A., Watkins-Schulz, R., Cheng, N., David, C. N., McGee, C. E., Sempowski, G. D., Shterev, I., McKinnon, K., Bachelder, E. M., Ainslie, K. M., Ting, J. P. -. (2018) A robust microparticle platform for a STING-targeted adjuvant that enhances both humoral and cellular immunity during vaccination. *Journal of Controlled Release*. **270**, 1-13.

204. Watkins-Schulz, R., Tiet, P., Gallovic, M. D., Junkins, R. D., Batty, C., Bachelder, E. M., Ainslie, K. M., Ting, J. P. Y. (2019) A microparticle platform for STING-targeted immunotherapy enhances natural killer cell- and CD8+ T cell-mediated anti-tumor immunity. *Biomaterials*. **205**, 94-105.

205. Shae, D., Becker, K. W., Christov, P., Yun, D. S., Lytton-Jean, A. K. R., Sevimli, S., Ascano, M., Kelley, M., Johnson, D. B., Balko, J. M., Wilson, J. T. (2019) Endosomolytic polymersomes increase the activity of cyclic dinucleotide STING agonists to enhance cancer immunotherapy. *Nature nanotechnology*. **14**, 269-278.

206. Smith, T. T., Moffett, H. F., Stephan, S. B., Opel, C. F., Dumigan, A. G., Jiang, X., Pillarisetty, V. G., Pillai, S. P. S., Wittrup, K. D., Stephan, M. T. (2017) Biopolymers codelivering engineered T cells and STING agonists can eliminate heterogeneous tumors. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. **127**, 2176-2191.

207. Leach, D. G., Dharmaraj, N., Piotrowski, S. L., Lopez-Silva, T. L., Lei, Y. L., Sikora, A. G., Young, S., Hartgerink, J. D. (2018) STINGel: Controlled release of a cyclic dinucleotide for enhanced cancer immunotherapy. *Biomaterials*. **163**, 67-75.

208. Luo, M., Wang, H., Wang, Z., Cai, H., Lu, Z., Li, Y., Du, M., Huang, G., Wang, C., Chen, X., Porembka, M. R., Lea, J., Frankel, A. E., Fu, Y., Chen, Z. J., Gao, J. (2017) A STING-activating nanovaccine for cancer immunotherapy. *Nature nanotechnology*. **12**, 648-654.

209. Luo, M., Liu, Z., Zhang, X., Han, C., Samandi, L. Z., Dong, C., Sumer, B. D., Lea, J., Fu, Y., Gao, J. (2019) Synergistic STING activation by PC7A nanovaccine and ionizing radiation improves cancer immunotherapy. *Journal of Controlled Release*. **300**, 154-160.

210. Ramanjulu, J. M., Pesiridis, G. S., Yang, J., Concha, N., Singhaus, R., Zhang, S., Tran, J., Moore, P., Lehmann, S., Eberl, H. C., Muelbaier, M., Schneck, J. L., Clemens, J., Adam, M., Mehlmann, J., Romano, J., Morales, A., Kang, J., Leister, L., Graybill, T. L., Charnley, A. K., Ye, G., Nevins, N., Behnia, K., Wolf, A. I., Kasparcova, V., Nurse, K., Wang, L., Puhl, A. C., Li, Y., Klein, M., Hopson, C. B., Guss, J., Bantscheff, M., Bergamini, G., Reilly, M. A., Lian, Y., Duffy, K. J., Adams, J., Foley, K. P., Gough, P. J., Marquis, R. W., Smothers, J., Hoos, A., Bertin, J. (2018) Design of amidobenzimidazole STING receptor agonists with systemic activity. *Nature*. **564**, 439-443. 211. Curran, E., Chen, X., Corrales, L., Kline, D., Dubensky, T., Duttagupta, P., Kortylewski, M., Kline, J. (2016) STING Pathway Activation Stimulates Potent Immunity against Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Cell Reports.* **15**, 2357-2366.

212. Laursen, M. F., Christensen, E., Degn, L. L. T., Jønsson, K., Jakobsen, M. R., Agger, R., Kofod-Olsen, E. (2018) CD11c-targeted Delivery of DNA to Dendritic Cells Leads to cGAS- and STING-dependent Maturation. *Journal of Immunotherapy*. **41**, 9-18.

213. Fyrstenberg Laursen, M., Kofod-Olsen, E., Agger, R. (2019) Activation of dendritic cells by targeted DNA: a potential addition to the armamentarium for anticancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, 1-6.

214. Haller Hasskamp, J., Zapas, J. L., Elias, E. G. (2005) Dendritic cell counts in the peripheral blood of healthy adults. *American Journal of Hematology*. **78**, 314-315.

215. Palucka, K., Banchereau, J. (2012) Cancer immunotherapy via dendritic cells. *Nature reviews. Cancer.* **12**, 265-277.

216. Szabolcs, P., Moore, M. A., Young, J. W. (1995) Expansion of immunostimulatory dendritic cells among the myeloid progeny of human CD34+ bone marrow precursors cultured with c-kit ligand, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, and TNF-alpha. *The Journal of Immunology*. **154**, 5851.

217. F Santiago-Schwarz, E Belilos, B Diamond, S E Carsons. (1992) TNF in combination with GM-CSF enhances the differentiation of neonatal cord blood stem cells into dendritic cells and macrophages. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. **52**, 274-281.

218. Caux, C., Vanbervliet, B., Massacrier, C., Dezutter-Dambuyant, C., de Saint-Vis, B., Jacquet, C., Yoneda, K., Imamura, S., Schmitt, D., Banchereau, J. (1996) CD34+ hematopoietic progenitors from human cord blood differentiate along two independent dendritic cell pathways in response to GM-CSF+TNF alpha. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. **184**, 695-706.

219. Ardeshna, K. M., Corney, C. P., Ings, S. J., Watts, M. J., Linch, D. C., Devereux, S. (2000) A Clinically Applicable Method for the ex vivo Generation of Antigen-Presenting Cells from CD34+ Progenitors. *Vox Sanguinis*. **79**, 46-52.

220. Mohammadi, A., Mehrzad, J., Mahmoudi, M., Schneider, M., Haghparast, A. (2015) Effect of culture and maturation on human monocyte-derived dendritic cell surface markers, necrosis and antigen binding. *Biotechnic & Histochemistry*. **90**, 445-452.

221. Morse, M. A., Zhou, L. J., Tedder, T. F., Lyerly, H. K., Smith, C. (1997) Generation of dendritic cells in vitro from peripheral blood mononuclear cells with granulocyte-macrophage-colony-stimulating factor, interleukin-4, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha for use in cancer immunotherapy. *Annals of surgery*. **226**, 6-16.

222. Kuhn, S., Yang, J., Ronchese, F. (2015) Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells Are Essential for CD8+ T Cell Activation and Antitumor Responses After Local Immunotherapy. *Frontiers in immunology*. **6**, 584.

223. Kuhn, S., Hyde, E. J., Yang, J., Rich, F. J., Harper, J. L., Kirman, J. R., Ronchese, F. (2013) Increased Numbers of Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells during Successful Tumor Immunotherapy with Immune-Activating Agents. *Journal of immunology*. **191**, 1984-1992.

224. Inaba, K., Inaba, M., Romani, N., Aya, H., Deguchi, M., Ikehara, S., Muramatsu, S., Steinman, R. M. (1992) Generation of large numbers of dendritic cells from mouse bone marrow cultures supplemented with granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. **176**, 1693-1702.

225. Lu, L., McCaslin, D., Starzl, T. E., Thomson, A. W. (1995) Bone marrow-derived dendritic cell progenitors (NLDC 145+, MHC class II+, B7-1dim, B7-2-) induce alloantigen-specific hyporesponsiveness in murine T lymphocytes. *Transplantation*. **60**, 1539-1545.

226. Brasel, K., De Smedt, T., Smith, J. L., Maliszewski, C. R. (2000) Generation of murine dendritic cells from flt3-ligand-supplemented bone marrow cultures. *Blood*. **96**, 3029-3039.

227. Weigel, B. J., Nath, N., Taylor, P. A., Panoskaltsis-Mortari, A., Chen, W., Krieg, A. M., Brasel, K., Blazar, B. R. (2002) Comparative analysis of murine marrowderived dendritic cells generated by Flt3L or GM-CSF/IL-4 and matured with immune stimulatory agents on the in vivo induction of antileukemia responses. *Blood*. **100**, 4169-4176.

228. Xu, Y., Zhan, Y., Lew, A. M., Naik, S. H., Kershaw, M. H. (2007) Differential Development of Murine Dendritic Cells by GM-CSF versus Flt3 Ligand Has Implications for Inflammation and Trafficking. *The Journal of Immunology*. **179**, 7577-7584.

229. Berges, C., Naujokat, C., Tinapp, S., Wieczorek, H., Höh, A., Sadeghi, M., Opelz, G., Daniel, V. (2005) A cell line model for the differentiation of human dendritic cells. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. **333**, 896-907.

230. Tsuchiya, S., Yamabe, M., Yamaguchi, Y., Kobayashi, Y., Konno, T., Tada, K. (1980) Establishment and characterization of a human acute monocytic leukemia cell line (THP-1). *International Journal of Cancer.* **26**, 171-176.

231. Daigneault, M., Preston, J. A., Marriott, H. M., Whyte, M. K. B., Dockrell, D. H. (2010) The Identification of Markers of Macrophage Differentiation in PMA-Stimulated THP-1 Cells and Monocyte-Derived Macrophages. *PloS one.* **5**, e8668.

232. Teobald, I., Dunnion, D. J., Whitbread, M., Curnow, S. J., Browning, M. J. (2007) Phenotypic and functional differentiation of KG-1 into dendritic-like cells. *Immunobiology*. **213**, 75-86.

233. Hulette, B. C., Rowden, G., Ryan, C. A., Lawson, C. M., Dawes, S. M., Ridder, G. M., Gerberick, G. F. (2001) Cytokine induction of a human acute myelogenous leukemia cell line (KG-1) to a CD1a+ dendritic cell phenotype. *Arch Dermatol Res.* **293**, 147-158.

234. Cernadas, M., Lu, J., Watts, G., Brenner, M. B. (2009) CD1a expression defines an interleukin-12 producing population of human dendritic cells. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology*. **155**, 523-533.

235. Masterson, A. J., Sombroek, C. C., De Gruijl, T. D., Graus, Y. M. F., van der Vliet, Hans J J, Lougheed, S. M., van den Eertwegh, Alfons J M, Pinedo, H. M., Scheper, R. J. (2002) MUTZ-3, a human cell line model for the cytokine-induced differentiation of dendritic cells from CD34+ precursors. *Blood*. **100**, 701-3.

236. Larsson, K., Lindstedt, M., Borrebaeck, C. A. K. (2006) Functional and transcriptional profiling of MUTZ-3, a myeloid cell line acting as a model for dendritic cells. *Immunology*. **117**, 156-166.

237. Olson, B., Li, Y., Lin, Y., Liu, E. T., Patnaik, A. (2018) Mouse Models for Cancer Immunotherapy Research. *Cancer discovery.* **8**, 1358-1365.

238. Grasselly, C., Denis, M., Bourguignon, A., Talhi, N., Mathe, D., Tourette, A., Serre, L., Jordheim, L. P., Matera, E. L., Dumontet, C. (2018) The Antitumor Activity of Combinations of Cytotoxic Chemotherapy and Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors Is Model-Dependent. *Frontiers in immunology*. **9**, 2100.

239. Sow, H. S., Ren, J., Camps, M., Ossendorp, F., Ten Dijke, P. (2019) Combined Inhibition of TGF- $\beta$  Signaling and the PD-L1 Immune Checkpoint Is Differentially Effective in Tumor Models. *Cells.* **8**, 320.

240. Dalby, B., Cates, S., Harris, A., Ohki, E. C., Tilkins, M. L., Price, P. J., Ciccarone, V. C. (2004) Advanced transfection with Lipofectamine 2000 reagent: primary neurons, siRNA, and high-throughput applications. *Methods*. **33**, 95-103.

241. Philip L. Felgner, Thomas R. Gadek, Marilyn Holm, Richard Roman, Hardy W. Chan, Michael Wenz, Jeffrey P. Northrop, Gordon M. Ringold, Mark Danielsen. (1987) Lipofection: A Highly Efficient, Lipid-Mediated DNA-Transfection Procedure. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.* **84**, 7413-7417.

242. Cui, S., Cui, S., Wang, B., Wang, B., Zhao, Y., Zhao, Y., Chen, H., Chen, H., Ding, H., Ding, H., Zhi, D., Zhi, D., Zhang, S., Zhang, S. (2014) Transmembrane routes of cationic liposome-mediated gene delivery using human throat epidermis cancer cells. *Biotechnol Lett.* **36**, 1-7.

243. Holm, C. K., Jensen, S. B., Jakobsen, M. R., Cheshenko, N., Horan, K. A., Moeller, H. B., Gonzalez-Dosal, R., Rasmussen, S. B., Christensen, M. H., Yarovinsky, T. O., Rixon, F. J., Herold, B. C., Fitzgerald, K. A., Paludan, S. R. (2012) Virus-cell fusion as a trigger of innate immunity dependent on the adaptor STING. *Nature Immunology*. **13**, 737-743.

244. Pugholm, L. H., Petersen, L. R., Søndergaard, E. K. L., Varming, K., Agger, R. (2015) Enhanced Humoral Responses Induced by Targeting of Antigen to Murine Dendritic Cells. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*. **82**, 515-522.

245. Pugholm, L. H., Varming, K., Agger, R. (2015) In vitro Assay for Screening of Optimal Targets for Antigen-Delivery to Murine Dendritic Cells. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*. **82**, 498-505.

246. Kozlov, I. A., Melnyk, P. C., Stromsborg, K. E., Chee, M. S., Barker, D. L., Zhao, C. (2004) Efficient strategies for the conjugation of oligonucleotides to antibodies enabling highly sensitive protein detection. *Biopolymers*. **73**, 621-630.

247. Maxfield, F. R., van Meer, G. (2010) Cholesterol, the central lipid of mammalian cells. *Curr.Opin.Cell Biol.* **22**, 422-429.

248. Mahammad, S., Parmryd, I. (2015) Cholesterol depletion using methyl-β-cyclodextrin. *Methods in molecular biology*. **1232**, 91-102.

249. Bolard, J. (1986) How do the polyene macrolide antibiotics affect the cellular membrane properties?. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. **864**, 257.

250. Robert Bittman, Steven A. Fischkoff. (1972) Fluorescence Studies of the Binding of the Polyene Antibiotics Filipin III, Amphotericin B, Nystatin, and Lagosin to

Cholesterol. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. **69**, 3795-3799.

251. Milhaud, J. (1992) Permeabilizing action of filipin III on model membranes through a filipin-phospholipid binding. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta*. **1105**, 307-318.

252. Andreoli, T. E., Monahan, M. (1968) The interaction of polyene antibiotics with thin lipid membranes. *J.Gen.Physiol.* **52**, 300-325.

253. Nishijo, J., Moriyama, S., Shiota, S. (2003) Interactions of Cholesterol with Cyclodextrins in Aqueous Solution. *Chemical and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*. **51**, 1253-1257.

254. Sayour, E. J., Mitchell, D. A. (2017) Manipulation of Innate and Adaptive Immunity through Cancer Vaccines. *Journal of immunology research*. 2017, 3145742-7.

255. Gibson, S. J., Lindh, J. M., Riter, T. R., Gleason, R. M., Rogers, L. M., Fuller, A. E., Oesterich, J. L., Gorden, K. B., Qiu, X., McKane, S. W., Noelle, R. J., Miller, R. L., Kedl, R. M., Fitzgerald-Bocarsly, P., Tomai, M. A., Vasilakos, J. P. (2002) Plasmacytoid dendritic cells produce cytokines and mature in response to the TLR7 agonists, imiquimod and resiquimod. *Cellular Immunology*. **218**, 74-86.

256. Schön, M. P., Schön, M. (2008) TLR7 and TLR8 as targets in cancer therapy. *Oncogene.* **27**, 190-199.

257. Dewan, M. Z., Vanpouille-Box, C., Kawashima, N., DiNapoli, S., Babb, J. S., Formenti, S. C., Adams, S., Demaria, S. (2012) Synergy of Topical Toll-like Receptor 7 Agonist with Radiation and Low-Dose Cyclophosphamide in a Mouse Model of Cutaneous Breast Cancer. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research.* **18**, 6668-6678.

258. Takeda, Y., Kataoka, K., Yamagishi, J., Ogawa, S., Seya, T., Matsumoto, M. (2017) A TLR3-Specific Adjuvant Relieves Innate Resistance to PD-L1 Blockade without Cytokine Toxicity in Tumor Vaccine Immunotherapy. *Cell Reports*. **19**, 1874-1887.

259. Adams, S., Kozhaya, L., Martiniuk, F., Meng, T., Chiriboga, L., Liebes, L., Hochman, T., Shuman, N., Axelrod, D., Speyer, J., Novik, Y., Tiersten, A., Goldberg, J. D., Formenti, S. C., Bhardwaj, N., Unutmaz, D., Demaria, S. (2012) Topical TLR7 Agonist Imiquimod Can Induce Immune-Mediated Rejection of Skin Metastases in Patients with Breast Cancer. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research.* **18**, 6748-6757.

260. Li, A., Yi, M., Qin, S., Song, Y., Chu, Q., Wu, K. (2019) Activating cGAS-STING pathway for the optimal effect of cancer immunotherapy. *Journal of hematology & oncology*. **12**, 35.

261. Paludan, S. R. (2015) Activation and Regulation of DNA-Driven Immune Responses. *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR*. **79**, 225-241.

262. Paludan, S., Bowie, A. (2013) Immune Sensing of DNA. Immunity. 38, 870-880.

263. Ishii, K. J., Kawagoe, T., Koyama, S., Matsui, K., Kumar, H., Kawai, T., Uematsu, S., Takeuchi, O., Takeshita, F., Coban, C., Akira, S. (2008) TANK-binding kinase-1 delineates innate and adaptive immune responses to DNA vaccines. *Nature*. **451**, 725-729.

264. Gray, E. E., Winship, D., Snyder, J. M., Child, S. J., Geballe, A. P., Stetson, D. B. (2016) The AIM2-like Receptors Are Dispensable for the Interferon Response to Intracellular DNA. *Immunity*. **45**, 255-266.

265. Xiao-Dong Li, Jiaxi Wu, Daxing Gao, Hua Wang, Lijun Sun, Zhijian J. Chen. (2013) Pivotal Roles of cGAS-cGAMP Signaling in Antiviral Defense and Immune Adjuvant Effects. *Science*. **341**, 1390-1394.

266. Li, T., Cheng, H., Yuan, H., Xu, Q., Shu, C., Zhang, Y., Xu, P., Tan, J., Rui, Y., Li, P., Tan, X. (2016) Antitumor Activity of cGAMP via Stimulation of cGAS-cGAMP-STING-IRF3 Mediated Innate Immune Response. *Scientific reports.* **6**, 19049.

267. York, A., Williams, K., Argus, J., Zhou, Q., Brar, G., Vergnes, L., Gray, E., Zhen, A., Wu, N., Yamada, D., Cunningham, C., Tarling, E., Wilks, M., Casero, D., Gray, D., Yu, A., Wang, E., Brooks, D., Sun, R., Kitchen, S., Wu, T., Reue, K., Stetson, D., Bensinger, S. (2015) Limiting Cholesterol Biosynthetic Flux Spontaneously Engages Type I IFN Signaling. *Cell.* **163**, 1716-1729.

268. Baek, S., Kim, S., Lee, S., Rhim, B., Eo, S., Kim, K. (2013) The Cholesterol-Binding Antibiotic Nystatin Induces Expression of Macrophage Inflammatory Protein-1 in Macrophages. *Biomolecules & therapeutics*. **21**, 42-48.

269. Li, L., Yin, Q., Kuss, P., Maliga, Z., Millán, J. L., Wu, H., Mitchison, T. J. (2014) Hydrolysis of 2'3'-cGAMP by ENPP1 and design of nonhydrolyzable analogs. *Nature chemical biology*. **10**, 1043-1048.

270. Rock, K. L., Kono, H. (2008) The Inflammatory Response to Cell Death. *Annual review of pathology*. **3**, 99-126.

271. Liang, D., Xiao-Feng, H., Guan-Jun, D., Er-Ling, H., Sheng, C., Ting-Ting, W., Qin-Gang, H., Yan-Hong, N., Ya-Yi, H. (2015) Activated STING enhances Tregs infiltration in the HPV-related carcinogenesis of tongue squamous cells via the c-jun/CCL22 signal. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. **1852**, 2494.

272. Lemos, H., Mohamed, E., Huang, L., Ou, R., Pacholczyk, G., Arbab, A. S., Munn, D., Mellor, A. L. (2016) STING Promotes the Growth of Tumors Characterized by Low Antigenicity via IDO Activation. *Cancer research.* **76**, 2076-2081.

273. Liu, Y., Jesus, A. A., Marrero, B., Yang, D., Ramsey, S. E., Montealegre Sanchez, G. A., Tenbrock, K., Wittkowski, H., Jones, O. Y., Kuehn, H. S., Lee, C. R., DiMattia, M. A., Cowen, E. W., Gonzalez, B., Palmer, I., DiGiovanna, J. J., Biancotto, A., Kim, H. J., Kim, H., Tsai, W. L., Trier, A. M., Huang, Y., Stone, D. L., Hill, S., St. Hilaire, C., Gurprasad, S., Plass, N., Chapelle, D., Horkayne-Szakaly, I., Foell, D., Barysenka, A., Candotti, F., Holland, S. M., Hughes, J. D., Mehmet, H., Issekutz, A. C., Raffeld, M., McElwee, J., Fontana, J. R., Minniti, C. P., Moir, S., Kastner, D. L., Gadina, M., Steven, A. C., Wingfield, P. T., Brooks, S. R., Rosenzweig, S. D., Fleisher, T. A., Deng, Z., Boehm, M., Paller, A. S., Goldbach-Mansky, R. (2014) Activated STING in a Vascular and Pulmonary Syndrome. *The New England Journal of Medicine*. **371**, 507-518.

ISSN (online): 2246-1302 ISBN (online): 978-87-7210-635-9

AALBORG UNIVERSITY PRESS